

**Prepared in cooperation with the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service** 

# A Sagebrush Conservation Design to Proactively Restore America's Sagebrush Biome



Open-File Report 2022–1081

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

**Cover image**: Map showing the size and extent of core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other rangeland areas within the sagebrush biome of the United States in 2020.

By Kevin Doherty, David M. Theobald, John B. Bradford, Lief A. Wiechman, Geoffrey Bedrosian, Chad S. Boyd, Matthew Cahill, Peter S. Coates, Megan K. Creutzburg, Michele R. Crist, Sean P. Finn, Alexander V. Kumar, Caitlin E. Littlefield, Jeremy D. Maestas, Karen L. Prentice, Brian G. Prochazka, Thomas E. Remington, William D. Sparklin, John C. Tull, Zachary Wurtzebach, and Katherine A. Zeller

Prepared in cooperation with the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

Open-File Report 2022–1081

#### U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2022

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit https://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit https://store.usgs.gov/.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

#### Suggested citation:

Doherty, K., Theobald, D.M., Bradford, J.B., Wiechman, L.A., Bedrosian, G., Boyd, C.S., Cahill, M., Coates, P.S., Creutzburg, M.K., Crist, M.R., Finn, S.P., Kumar, A.V., Littlefield, C.E., Maestas, J.D., Prentice, K.L., Prochazka, B.G., Remington, T.E., Sparklin, W.D., Tull, J.C., Wurtzebach, Z., and Zeller, K.A., 2022, A sagebrush conservation design to proactively restore America's sagebrush biome: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2022–1081, 38 p., https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20221081.

Associated data for this publication: Doherty, K., Theobald, D.M., Holdrege, M.C., Wiechman, L.A., and Bradford, J.B., 2022, Biome-wide sagebrush core habitat and growth areas estimated from a threat-based conservation design: U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/P94Y5CDV.

ISSN 2331-1258 (online)

# **Acknowledgments**

We appreciate the in-kind staff time and expertise contributed by the 12 agencies and organizations represented by the authors. This work would have not been possible without the diversity of disciplines and agency and organizational perspectives represented here. Funding to support this work came from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Science Applications Program in Region 6.

# Contents

Acknowledgments	iii
Executive Summary	1
Introduction	2
Study Area	3
Methods	5
Objective 1: Model the Integrity of the Sagebrush Ecosystem	5
Ecology of Factors Contributing to Sagebrush Ecological Integrity	5
Sagebrush Ecological Integrity Functional Relationships	8
Defining Core Sagebrush Areas, Growth Opportunity Areas, and Other Rangeland Areas	8
Objective 2: Evaluate Spatial Congruence With Single-Species Populations and Agency Priority Areas	11
Objective 3: Quantify Status of Sagebrush Rangelands Relative to Primary Threats in 2020	12
Objective 4: Evaluate Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Change in Sagebrush Ecological Integrity	13
Objective 5: First Look at Climatic Effects on Core Sagebrush Areas, Growth Opportunity Areas, and Other Rangeland Areas	13
Results	14
Objective 1: Model Integrity of the Sagebrush Ecosystem	14
Objective 2: Evaluate Spatial Congruence With Single-Species Populations and Agency Priority Areas	14
Objective 3: Quantify Status of Sagebrush Rangelands Relative to Primary Threats in 2020	14
Objective 4: Evaluate Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Change in Sagebrush Ecological Integrity	23
Objective 5: First Look at Climatic Effects on Core Sagebrush Areas, Growth	25
Discussion	25
Summarv	27 29
References Cited	20 29
Appendix 1 Supporting Information	23
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

# Figures

1.	Two maps showing differences within the amount of perennial grassland cover and sagebrush cover across the three ecological regions used to model sagebrush ecological integrity in the sagebrush biome of the	
	United States for 2020	4
2.	Line graph showing the functional relationship between the proportion of sagebrush and perennial grass within a 560-meter Gaussian kernel to relative sagebrush ecological integrity	.10

3.	Line graph showing the functional relationship between the proportion of invasive annual grasses, human modification, and tree (conifer) expansion within a 560-meter Gaussian kernel to relative sagebrush ecological integrity	10
4.	Conceptual threat matrix to align multithreat conservation strategies for core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas identified for the sagebrush biome of the United States with the conceptual classes of "defend the core," "grow the core," and "mitigate impacts"	12
5.	Six-panel figure showing change over time (from 2001 to 2020) in size and extent of core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other rangeland areas within the sagebrush biome of the United States	15
6.	Map showing areas of spatial congruence between core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas and existing (as of 2020) agency prioritizations within the sagebrush biome	17
7.	Three line graphs showing median estimates of <i>Centrocercus urophasianus</i> L. (greater sage-grouse) abundance index (1996 to 2019) and summarized within core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other rangeland areas	18
8.	Map showing location and extent of three mapped threats with core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas across the sagebrush biome of the United States for 2020	19
9.	Map showing location and extent of the invasive annual grass threat across the sagebrush biome in the United States for 2020	20
10.	Map showing location and extent of the conifer threat across the sagebrush biome in the United States for 2020	21
11.	Map showing location and extent of the human modification threat across the sagebrush biome in the United States for 2020	22
12.	Bar graphs showing trends in three primary threats to the three regions of the sagebrush biome in the United States from 1998 to 2020	24
13.	Three page-sized maps showing stability and predicted changes to the location of core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other rangeland areas based upon projected changes to sagebrush ecological integrity from climate	
	change across the sagebrush biome in the United States	26

## Tables

1.	Landcover variables that were used to define sagebrush ecological integrity within the sagebrush biome of the United States from 1998 to 2020	6
2.	Threats and datasets used to estimate the degree of human modification in the sagebrush biome	9
3.	Levels of threat as measured by the percent cover for three of the largest threats to the sagebrush biome of the United States (invasive annual grasses, conifer woodlands expansion, and human modification)	12
4.	Percent of five priority focal species populations encompassed within 2020 core sagebrush areas and the 2020 core sagebrush areas plus the 2020 growth opportunity areas compared to the entire sagebrush ecological integrity model area.	16
5.	The percent of existing management designations (as of 2020) within the sagebrush biome used by State and Federal agencies that are contained within core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas	16

6.	Results of spatially explicit risk matrixes between core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other rangeland areas by three of the largest known threats to the sagebrush biome of the United States (invasive annual grasses, conifer woodlands expansion, and human modification) as of 202023
7.	Climate change prediction confusion matrix showing the predicted amount of change of core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other

rangeland areas from 2030 to 2060, in million acres......25

# **Conversion Factors**

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
mile (mi)	1.609	kilometer (km)
yard (yd)	0.9144	meter (m)
kilometer (km)	0.6214	mile (mi)
meter (m)	1.094	yard (yd)
	Area	
acre	0.4047	hectare (ha)
hectare (ha)	2.471	acre

# Abbreviations

~	approximately
%	percent
BF	US Building Footprints
BLM	Bureau of Land Management
CSA	core sagebrush area
EIA	U.S. Energy Information Administration
GAP	Gap Analysis Project
GOA	growth opportunity area
HGL	hydrocarbon gas liquids
LCMAP	Land Change Monitoring, Assessment, and Projection
NA	not applicable
NAWMP	North American Waterfowl Management Plan
NCEI	National Centers for Environmental Information
NLCD	National Land Cover Dataset
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NRCS	Natural Resources Conservation Service
ORA	other rangeland areas
PDF	portable document format
PHMA	Priority Habitat Management Area
R&R	resistance and resilience
RAP	Rangeland Analysis Platform
RCMAP	Rangeland Condition, Monitoring, Assessment, and Projection
RCP	representative concentration pathway
SEI	sagebrush ecological integrity
SHC	Strategic Habitat Conservation
TIGER	Topologically Integrated Geographic Encoding and Referencing
U.S.	United States
USDA	U.S. Department of Agriculture
USFS	U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service
USFWS	U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey
VIIRS	Visible Infrared Imaging Radiometer Suite
WGA	Western Governors' Association
WLFW	Working Lands for Wildlife

By Kevin Doherty,<sup>1</sup> David M. Theobald,<sup>2</sup> John B. Bradford,<sup>3</sup> Lief A. Wiechman,<sup>3\*</sup> Geoffrey Bedrosian,<sup>1</sup> Chad S. Boyd,<sup>4</sup> Matthew Cahill,<sup>5</sup> Peter S. Coates,<sup>3</sup> Megan K. Creutzburg,<sup>6</sup> Michele R. Crist,<sup>7</sup> Sean P. Finn,<sup>1</sup> Alexander V. Kumar,<sup>1</sup> Caitlin E. Littlefield,<sup>8</sup> Jeremy D. Maestas,<sup>9</sup> Karen L. Prentice,<sup>7</sup> Brian G. Prochazka,<sup>3</sup> Thomas E. Remington,<sup>10</sup> William D. Sparklin,<sup>1</sup> John C. Tull,<sup>1</sup> Zachary Wurtzebach,<sup>11</sup> and Katherine A. Zeller<sup>12</sup>

## **Executive Summary**

A working group of experts with diverse backgrounds and disciplinary expertise was assembled to conceptualize a spatially explicit conservation design to support and inform the Sagebrush Conservation Strategy Part 2. The goal was to leverage recent advancements in remotely sensed landcover products to develop spatially and temporally explicit maps of sagebrush rangeland condition and landscape threats. In addition, the group sought to provide a common basis for understanding the state of sagebrush rangelands through time. First, the study team developed a spatially explicit model to assess geographic patterns in sagebrush ecological integrity and used this model to identify core sagebrush areas (CSAs), growth opportunity areas (GOAs), and other rangeland areas (ORAs) across the biome. Among the identified rangelands, 13.6 percent were classified as CSAs; 34.4 percent, as GOAs; and 51.9 percent, as ORAs. This equated to 33.4 million acres of CSAs and 84.3 million acres of GOAs, or 117.7 million acres of CSAs and GOAs combined as of 2020. Second, the team sought to demonstrate the ecological relevance

<sup>4</sup>Agricultural Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture

- <sup>7</sup>Bureau of Land Management, U.S. Department of the Interior
- <sup>8</sup>Conservation Science Partners
- 9Natural Resources Conservation Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture

<sup>10</sup>Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies

<sup>11</sup>Center for Large Landscape Conservation

of the identified CSAs and GOAs by comparing these data with independent datasets for sagebrush obligate species of conservation concern. Geographical patterns in sagebrush ecological integrity were strongly associated with high-priority species and displayed clear links to population performance for Centrocercus urophasianus (Bonaparte, 1827) (greater sage-grouse). The positive link to greater sage-grouse population trends in CSAs is important, as habitat management designations for this species have largely driven conservation actions across the sagebrush biome for the past several decades. Third, the team parsed out the type, location, and acres of primary threats within the different categories (CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs) to help focus active management by identifying places where multiagency and organization efforts can protect CSAs and GOAs that have higher levels of integrity with lower cumulative threats. The assessment of the condition of the sagebrush biome (that is, the location, amount, and conservation status) indicated that complex ecosystem function problems are driving ~73 percent of the demonstrated threats within the CSAs and GOAs (rather than point-source problems, such as human development). Fourth, the team developed trend estimates for the identified CSAs and GOAs and three selected primary threats (invasive annual grasses, conifer encroachment, and human modification) to the sagebrush biome from 2001 to 2020. Results showed that an average of 1.3 million acres per year have transitioned to ORAs at an annual rate of -1.34 percent. Fifth, the team developed an approach to integrate climate change effects into the threat-based landscape conservation design and conducted an initial assessment on the magnitude of near-term climate effects in the context of observed historical trends. The team's analysis suggests that climate change alone is unlikely to be the dominant threat to sagebrush ecological integrity in the next few decades, although interactions of climate with wildfire and invasive annual grasses may be an important threat, especially in the longer term.

In total, this work indicates that significantly more attention and commitment to targeted restoration and management will be needed to halt ecosystem degradation at a biome-wide scale should threats continue as they have in past decades. A spatial overlap analysis was performed and

<sup>\*</sup>Authors are listed in alphabetical order after Wiechman

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, U.S. Department of the Interior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Conservation Planning Technologies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>U.S. Geological Survey, U.S. Department of the Interior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Nature Conservancy

<sup>6</sup>Oregon State University

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Aldo Leopold Wilderness Research Institute, U.S. Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, U.S. Department of Agriculture

highlighted 45.8 million acres of shared priorities among existing conservation frameworks to help anchor and guide collaborative landscape-scale conservation of areas that still have no to low threats. The team identified annual rates of loss to combat annually to stop losses to the ecosystem and broadly identified how much and where conservation actions could be implemented. This information is critical to provide context for decisions about the volume and nature of conservation actions and funding requirements.

The scale of conservation called for in the sagebrush biome is daunting; however, there is clear precedence for successful conservation at tens of millions of acres and billions of dollars within North America through the North American Waterfowl Management Plan (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Canadian Wildlife Service, 1986; USFWS, 2022a). Regardless of the final form of coordination leaders in the Western United States agree upon, what is clear is that a comparable collaborative effort into durable conservation approaches that bring people together across geographies and cultures could benefit restoration of the sagebrush biome.

## Introduction

Wildland systems around the world, particularly drylands, are experiencing degradation and changes in ecological integrity at unprecedented rates in modern history (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; Reynolds and others, 2007). Managing large-scale ecosystem degradation is a primary conservation challenge that requires a shift from traditional species-specific interventions to planning frameworks that simplify complex causes of degradation into discrete and comparable categories of ecosystem condition (Salafsky and others, 2008). Regulatory intervention may not be effective at controlling complex problems that involve disruption of ecosystem processes, such as invasive annual grasses, altered wildfire regimes, and drought (Boyd and others, 2014). When these threats interact at a landscape-scale and are further compounded by a changing climate, new and more holistic approaches may be beneficial in preventing further degradation. Addressing persistent, complex, and large-scale ecosystem degradation likely requires sustained and adaptive management actions to direct limited resource capacity, funding, and tools as effectively and strategically as possible (Walker and others, 2004).

Landscape conservation frameworks that provide a common strategic approach for reducing ecosystem threats can help to unify diverse stakeholders around a shared vision despite multiple types of land ownership, land use, and community values (Boyd and others, 2014; Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS], 2021b). For example, a multistakeholder framework was used in the 1980s to create the North American Waterfowl Management Plan (NAWMP)—a large-scale conservation plan that focused on the primary factors driving wetland and associated habitat loss for waterfowl (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Canadian Wildlife Service, 1986). The original NAWMP outlined conservation actions guided by expert-drawn maps that identified places and practices for wetland conservation with broad stakeholder appeal and actionable goals (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Canadian Wildlife Service, 1986). This simple, unifying vision led to the establishment of Migratory Bird Joint Ventures in 1986 that have conserved 27 million acres as well as the passage of the North American Wetland Conservation Act (Public Law 101–233) in 1989, which raised \$5.8 billion in funding (\$1.9 billion in grants and \$3.9 billion in matching funds) that has been used to restore an additional 31.5 million acres of waterfowl habitats (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS], 2022a; USFWS, 2022b). The NAWMP highlights the value of establishing a broad partnership and producing a framework with a landscape-scale vision that can unify stakeholders and help to focus complex ecological issues into clear, well-aligned goals and actions to work towards reversing declines in ecological integrity.

Within the shrubland biome of western North America, the spatial extent of Artemisia L. spp. (sagebrush) rangelands has declined by approximately 50 percent since the arrival of European settlers in the 1800s (Schroeder and others, 2004; Homer and others, 2015). This decline is associated primarily with biome-level threats, such as altered wildfire regimes, invasive annual grasses, conifer expansion, and human land use and land modification (USFWS, 2010; Davies and others, 2011). These factors are threatening a wide range of interests and values, including native plant conservation, wildlife and their habitats, wilderness preservation, health and human safety, rangeland agriculture, and the economic stability of rural communities. Given the pace and scale of the biome-level threats, sustaining the diverse ecosystem services associated with the sagebrush biome involves moving beyond species-level and value-specific management practices and into the realm of proactive ecosystem management focused on lessening factors that are driving biome-wide collapse (Boyd and others, 2014).

In the sagebrush biome, Centrocercus urophasianus (Bonaparte, 1827) (greater sage-grouse) has been a primary driver of sagebrush conservation for more than a decade, resulting in strong collaboration, restoration, and land-use policy changes (USFWS, 2010; Bureau of Land Management, 2015). Initially motivated by species-specific concerns, the sagebrush conservation partnership is shifting to an ecosystem-based approach to address landscape threats. In the Northern Great Basin, a diverse group of partners piloted the use of threat-based state and transition models to fight invasive annual grass invasion, encroaching conifer woodlands, and altered wildfire regimes (Johnson and others, 2019). These threat-based models seek to facilitate management of multiple complex, landscape-level threats through easily communicated and actionable steps. These models promote communication and align the conservation efforts of diverse stakeholders towards preserving and creating sagebrush-dominated stands with a perennial grass understory

(Johnson and others, 2019). Further, recent work quantitatively linked greater sage-grouse to these threat-based models and demonstrated the utility of this approach in benefiting species of conservation concern (Doherty and others, 2021).

A growing recognition of the need to effectively curtail large-scale threats has also led to the emergence of a new proactive strategy for sagebrush rangeland conservation titled "Defend the Core, Grow the Core, Mitigate Impacts" (NRCS, 2020, 2021b; Western Governors' Association [WGA], 2020). This broad strategy focuses on first protecting intact and functioning sagebrush ecosystems ("cores") and then working outward to improve the management and restoration of more degraded landscapes rather than initially starting with the most degraded areas (NRCS, 2021b). The "defend the core" strategy is now being used to direct resources to address a variety of rangeland threats, from invasive species to land-use conversion (NRCS, 2021b; Maestas and others, 2022). This strategy, focused on the threat of invasive annual grasses, has been particularly helpful in providing a path forward for addressing previously intractable problems (NRCS, 2020; WGA, 2020; Creutzburg and others, 2022).

In preparing the sagebrush conservation design, the study team leveraged recent advancements in remotely sensed landcover products to develop spatially and temporally explicit maps of sagebrush rangeland condition and landscape threats. The goal was to provide a common basis for understanding the state of sagebrush rangelands through time across the entire biome to help conservation partners more fully incorporate a holistic, ecosystem- and threat-based approach. The team had five main objectives: (1) Develop a spatially explicit model to assess geographic patterns in sagebrush ecological integrity and use these results to identify core sagebrush areas (CSAs), growth opportunity areas (GOAs), and other rangeland areas (ORAs). (2) Evaluate the temporal and spatial predictions of CSAs and GOAs to understand the congruence of these model-defined areas with other existing models for the following priority species: greater sage-grouse, three sagebrush obligate songbirds—Spizella breweri (Cassin, 1856) (Brewer's sparrow), Artemisiospiza nevadensis (Ridgway, 1874) (sagebrush sparrow), and Oreoscoptes montanus (J.K. Townsend, 1837) (sage thrasher)—and Brachylagus idahoensis (Merriam, 1891) (pygmy rabbit). The team also evaluated predictions against existing Federal and State agency-led conservation prioritization efforts in the sagebrush biome. (3) Provide context to the scale of conservation needed by calculating where and how many acres of invasive annual grasses, conifers, and human modification exist within CSAs and GOAs. (4) Provide trend estimates for CSAs and GOAs and summarize the amount of invasive annual grasses, conifer encroachment, and human modification within the sagebrush biome from 2001 to 2020. (5) Develop an approach to integrate climate change effects into a threat-based landscape conservation design and conduct an initial assessment on the magnitude of near-term climate effects (over the next ~25 years) in the context of observed historical trends.

## **Study Area**

This project encompassed the full geographic extent of the sagebrush biome in the United States, which is found in 13 States in the western conterminous United States (Jeffries and Finn, 2019). Three small sagebrush landscapes within Canada along the border were not included in these analyses because of the lack of directly comparable spatial data. Within the U.S. sagebrush extent, nonrangelands, such as forests, lakes, urban areas, and cropland, were removed using a previously developed mask layer described in Maestas and others (2020). Alpine tundra grasslands were removed using the U.S. Geological Survey Gap Analysis Project (GAP) landcover dataset (U.S. Geological Survey Gap Analysis Project, 2016). The remaining unmasked areas were defined as sagebrush rangelands and represent the area modeled.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency level III dataset (Omernik and Griffith, 2014) ecoregions were used to form three regional groupings. Within these groupings, specific model parameters were used to account for biotic and abiotic differences (fig. 1) and differences in threat levels (section 1 of appendix 1) that occur across the biome. These regions (grouped from the level III ecoregions) are as follows:

**Southern Great Basin.** The Southern Great Basin region includes the Central Basin and Range, the Mojave Basin and Range, and the Sonoran Basin and Range level III ecoregions. This region represents the most southern and western portions of the sagebrush biome. This area was modeled separately because it is warmer and dryer, which results in naturally occurring lower amounts of perennial vegetation along with increased bare ground between vegetation (fig. 1). The differences in perennial vegetation are particularly pronounced compared with the vegetation of the Great Plains region (fig. 1).

**Great Plains.** The Great Plains region includes the High Plains, the Southwestern Tablelands, the Northwestern Glaciated Plains, and the Northwestern Great Plains level III ecoregions. The Great Plains region in the northeastern part of the sagebrush biome represents some of the largest remaining intact sagebrush and grassland rangelands in the conterminous United States. Ecologically, this area is characterized by a lower percent of sagebrush cover and higher levels of perennial grass both within and between the sagebrush stands (fig. 1). Compared with the other two regions, the Great Plains region receives the highest amount of precipitation per year and more precipitation during the warm growing season than the other regions studied.

**Intermountain West.** The Intermountain West region is typified by landscapes that transition from montane woody communities to sagebrush-dominated stands in areas of lower elevation or in rain shadows of mountain ranges. This region makes up the rest of the biome and includes the Cascades, the Sierra Nevada, the Eastern Cascades Slopes and Foothills, the Columbia Plateau, the Blue Mountains, the Snake River Plain, the Northern Rockies, the Idaho Batholith, the Middle Rockies, the Wyoming Basin, the Wasatch and

Uinta Mountains, the Colorado Plateaus, the Southern Rockies, the Arizona/New Mexico Plateau, the Arizona/New Mexico Mountains, and the Northern Basin and Range level III ecoregions. This region is typified by a relatively high percent of sagebrush cover and moderate levels of perennial grasses in the understory (fig. 1).



**Figure 1.** Differences in the amount of *A*, perennial grassland cover, and *B*, sagebrush cover across the three ecological regions (Southern Great Basin, Great Plains, and Intermountain West) used to model sagebrush ecological integrity in the sagebrush biome of the United States for 2020. Labels provided within the figure are names of cities. %, percent

## Methods

A working group with diverse disciplinary expertise was assembled to conceptualize a spatially explicit conservation design. Specifically, this group was convened to develop a landscape conservation design that could provide a foundation for a common strategic approach for addressing biome-wide threats to the sagebrush ecosystem. The intent of the effort was to help unify conservation delivery efforts, facilitate and promote discussion among stakeholders to set ecosystem-level objectives, and be a foundation for part of a comprehensive and strategic adaptive management framework. This expert group represented a diverse set of disciplines, including climatology, conservation biology, fire ecology, landscape ecology, rangeland ecology, spatial ecology, and wildlife biology. Collectively, the working group had experience that spanned different regions within the sagebrush biome and accounted for regional variability across the biome. All phases of the development of the threat-based conservation design, including spatial products, were vetted within the networks of the agency and organizations represented within the expert working group. Lastly, many members of the working group had been or were involved in various interagency and multiorganizational collaboratives for the sagebrush biome, which helped the group develop a product that is complementary to existing conservation plans and frameworks (for example, the Sagebrush Conservation Strategy Part 1 [Remington and others, 2021] and the Integrated Rangeland and Fire Management Strategy Science Frameworks Part 1 [Chambers, Beck, and others, 2017] and Part 2 [Crist and others, 2019]).

The spatially explicit conservation design expands upon two recent broad-scale interagency and organization collaborative conservation initiatives. One recent initiative is the conceptual model of "Defend the Core, Grow the Core, Mitigate Impacts" (NRCS, 2020, 2021b; WGA, 2020), which has helped change the conservation narrative into one that begins with healthy anchor landscapes that have no threats or low-level threats and expands outwards towards the more threatened areas. The second recent initiative is the threatbased state and transition models developed in Oregon to fight invasive annual grass invasion, encroaching conifer woodlands, and altered wildfire regimes (Johnson and others, 2019); these models are critical to simplifying the complex ecology so that the science is actionable to managers, policymakers, and stakeholders charged with supporting and implementing landscape-level conservation. These two approaches were expanded on to model sagebrush conservation from regional landscapes to the biome-wide distribution of sagebrush.

# Objective 1: Model the Integrity of the Sagebrush Ecosystem

In preparing the model of integrity, the study team followed the concepts of ecosystem degradation, which are changes to an ecosystem that directly impair the biotic and (or) abiotic components of biological integrity for that ecosystem (Salafsky and others, 2008). The term integrity, which is the inverse of degradation, is used because it places the focus on quality rather than on dysfunction. The determination of core sagebrush areas included two steps: first, patches of high sagebrush ecological integrity (SEI) were defined as being those with abundant sagebrush, native understories, and minimal threats (that is, invasive annual grasses, expanding conifers, and human modification). Second, the places where these patches converged to create large and intact sagebrush landscapes were identified.

In step 1, SEI for the biome was modeled with a focus on five patch-level indicators (or variables). Two of the five indicators (percent sagebrush cover and percent perennial grass cover) contribute to integrity, whereas three variables (percent annual grass cover, percent tree [conifer] cover, and an index of human modification) represent "threats" that detract from integrity. Taken together, these indicators characterize sagebrush ecosystem integrity (table 1). Each of the five indicators used are well-supported in the literature and can be mapped and tracked through time using remotely sensed and web-based datasets (Theobald and others, 2020; Allred and others, 2021; Rigge, Homer, and others, 2021), which allows for range-wide assessment, setting objectives at multiple scales, and frequent evaluation of the cumulative effectiveness of management actions at slowing or reducing threats at landscape scales. All data processing and modeling of SEI was conducted using Google Earth Engine (Gorelick and others, 2017).

#### Ecology of Factors Contributing to Sagebrush Ecological Integrity

Sagebrush foliage percent cover is a definitive characteristic of the ecosystem and relevant to persistence of most sagebrush-associated animal species studied, such as greater sage-grouse (Connelly and others, 2011), sagebrush-obligate songbirds (Knick and Rotenberry, 1995; Earnst and Holmes, 2012; Carlisle and others, 2018), and pygmy rabbits (Smith and others, 2019). Fragmentation and loss of formerly large and contiguous sagebrush patches are primarily the result of altered fire regimes, annual grass invasion, conifer woodlands expansion, and various human land uses-trends that profoundly alter the composition, structure, and function of the ecosystem (table 2; Knick, 1999). Therefore, extant stands of sagebrush are a good representation of ecological function relative to lack of degradation-causing threats. The sagebrush cover was measured using the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Rangeland Condition, Monitoring, Assessment, and Projection (RCMAP) dataset (table 1; Rigge, Homer, and others, 2021).

The effects of fire on SEI were modeled by measuring the changes in percent cover of sagebrush, perennial herbaceous (grass and forb) cover, invasive annual grass cover, and tree (conifer woodlands) cover from remotely sensed platforms (table 1). Therefore, the effects of fire are captured by the

measured changes in cover of the indicators that make up SEI (see the Sagebrush Ecological Integrity Functional Relationships section below). Fires were explicitly accounted for by excluding cover data in table 1 in years prior to each given fire. For example, if a fire burned in 2018, landcover in only 2019 and 2020 was used to calculate the SEI. This method ensured that the effects of fire were not diluted because of the multiyear averaging process used. This process also ensured that landscape-level changes that result from wildfire are incorporated in the estimates of SEI and trends in SEI through time.

**Perennial herbaceous (grass and forb) cover** is a second key component of a high-functioning sagebrush system as measured by the SEI approach. Prior to European settlement in the 1800s, sagebrush vegetation communities consisted predominantly of native perennial plants, including grasses, forbs, sagebrush, and other shrubs. Much of that native vegetation mosaic has been affected by human settlement and land-use change (Remington and others, 2021). Especially during the

20th century, the distribution of invasive annual grasses has greatly expanded (Germino and others, 2016; Smith and others, 2022), which has increased the flammability and frequency of fires in areas where the invasive annual grasses are present (Balch and others, 2013; Bradley and others, 2018). Intact perennial understories provide biotic resistance to invasive annual grass expansion (Davies, 2008; Chambers and others, 2014; Davies and Johnson, 2017). Additionally, persistent native herbaceous communities provide critical ecosystem services, including stabilizing soil, enhancing soil water availability (Roundy and others, 2014), supporting food webs important to wildlife (Goosey and others, 2019), and supplying desirable forage for domestic livestock grazing (Davies and Svejcar, 2008). Perennial herbaceous cover was measured using the Rangeland Analysis Platform, version 2 (RAP v2) (table 1; Allred and others, 2021).

# **Table 1.** Landcover variables that were used to define sagebrush ecological integrity within the sagebrush biome of the United States from 1998 to 2020.

[Where wildfires occurred during the sampled time interval, values for the fire year and previous years were removed for sagebrush, perennial grass cover, annual grass cover, and tree cover. For each year the Core Sagebrush Area Model was built (2001, 2006, 2011, 2016, and 2020), data were averaged over the 4 years to reduce interannual variability. For example, the 2020 model was an average of 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020 data. USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; %, percent]

Name of variable	Source	Native resolution (meters)	Timeframe	Update frequency	Description
Mean sagebrush cover	USGS Rangeland Condition, Monitoring, Assessment, and Projection ( <u>RCMAP</u> ) (Rigge, Homer, and others, 2021)	30	1998 to 2020	Annually	Sagebrush cover (%) estimated as canopy cover of sagebrush shrub species ( <i>Artemisia</i> spp.) using Landsat satellite imagery.
Mean perennial grass cover	Rangeland Analysis Platform, version 2 ( <u>RAP v2</u> ) (Allred and others, 2021)	30	1998 to 2020	Annually	Perennial grass cover (%) estimated using Landsat satellite imagery. Note that current satellite platforms cannot distinguish between native and nonnative perennial herbaceous cover.
Mean annual grass cover	Rangeland Analysis Platform, version 2 ( <u>RAP v2</u> ) (Allred and others, 2021)	30	1998 to 2020	Annually	Annual grass and forb cover (%) estimated using Landsat satellite imagery. Note that current satellite platforms cannot distinguish between native and nonnative annual herbaceous cover.
Mean tree cover	Rangeland Analysis Platform, version 2 ( <u>RAP v2</u> ) (Allred and others, 2021)	30	1998 to 2020	Annually	Tree cover (%) estimated using Landsat satellite imagery. This dataset is used as a surrogate for expanding conifer woodlands, but expansion was not directly modeled.
Mean human modification	Theobald and others, 2020	560	2001–2020	2001, 2006, 2011, 2016, 2019, and 2020	Value of human modification (0.0 to 1.0) is an integration of human land uses and threats. (See table 2 for full list.) Data were smoothed in the same manner as for sagebrush cover.

Invasive annual grasses (for example, Bromus tectorum L. [cheatgrass] and Taeniatherum caput-medusae L. [medusahead]) have profound and well-documented effects on the ecological function of sagebrush plant communities, including increased fire frequency and loss of native perennial species (Germino and others, 2016; Davies and others, 2021). Further, increases in invasive annual grasses and associated increases in wildfire frequency and extent (D'Antonio and Vitousek, 1992; Balch and others, 2013; Crist and others, 2021) are the most pervasive change agents leading to loss of SEI in the Southern Great Basin and Intermountain West regions (Smith and others, 2022). The invasive grass fire cycle and associated effects on sagebrush-dominated communities are well-documented ecologically (Bradley, 2009) and spatially (Jones and others, 2018; Boyte and others, 2019). Owing to the slow rate of sagebrush recovery in these ecoregions, large and frequent fires that lead to extensive loss of sagebrush cover will likely have negative effects on wildlife populations over long periods of time (decades) (Longland and Bateman, 2002; Coates and others, 2016). Further, certain areas that have lower resistance and resilience to disturbance may experience state changes to invasive annual grasses (Chambers and others, 2014; Chambers, Beck, and others, 2017; Chambers, Maestas, and others, 2017).

The relationship between invasive annual grass and wildfire observed in the Southern Great Basin and Intermountain West regions likely differs in the Great Plains. The Great Plains region has higher amounts of perennial grass cover both within and between sagebrush stands (fig. 1), more summer precipitation (Porensky and Blumenthal, 2016; Porensky, 2021), and native plants with a higher tolerance for disturbances, such as fire and herbivory (Porensky and Blumenthal, 2016; Porensky and others, 2020; Porensky, 2021). These differences may help explain why in this region wildfires (Porensky and Blumenthal, 2016) and prescribed fire burns (Symstad and others, 2021) can reduce the presence of invasive annual grasses, which is not the case the Intermountain West and the Southern Great Basin regions. Invasive annual grass cover was measured using the RAP v2 (table 1; Allred and others, 2021)

**Conifer woodlands** [that is, *Pinus edulis* (Engelm) (piñon pine) and *Juniperus* L. spp. (juniper)] have expanded their range in parts of the sagebrush biome, particularly in the Southern Great Basin region (Miller and Rose, 1995; Miller and others, 2000) and the Colorado Plateau ecoregion (Romme and others, 2009; Miller and others, 2019). These shifts are known to have negative effects on greater sage-grouse (Baruch-Mordo and others, 2013; Coates and others, 2017; Severson and others, 2017b) and other sagebrush-associated wildlife populations (Miller and others, 2017; Maestas and others, 2021). Increases in conifer canopy cover result in nonlinear declines in sagebrush cover (Roundy and others, 2014; Miller and others, 2000), which directly reduces the amount of available food and cover for sagebrush-dependent species and thereby increases its relative threat (Maestas and others, 2021). Climate patterns influence natural disturbance, such as: drought, insects, disease, and wildfire, which all have a strong influence on the expansion and contraction of conifer woodlands. In the 20th century, a climatic period of higher levels of precipitation combined with past over-grazing and fire suppression promoted woodland expansion into more sagebrush-dominated

and contraction of conifer woodlands. In the 20th century, a climatic period of higher levels of precipitation combined with past over-grazing and fire suppression promoted woodland expansion into more sagebrush-dominated areas (Miller and others, 2008). Tree-ring analyses in the Great Basin region suggest a twofold to sixfold increase in woodlands prior to the arrival of European settlers in the 1800s (Miller and others, 2008), but the overall extent of pinyon-juniper increase varies across its range; expansion is more localized in some areas, such as the Colorado Plateau ecoregion, whereas other areas are experiencing contractions (Romme and others, 2009). In most areas, conversion from sagebrush to conifer dominance decreases perennial grass and forb cover, productivity, and species richness; influences soil water infiltration, runoff, erosion, and sediment loads; and changes carbon cycles (Miller and others, 2000; Maestas and others, 2021). These alterations can reduce sagebrush ecosystem resilience to disturbances and resistance to invasive plants (Miller and others, 2013; Chambers and others, 2014; Chambers, Beck, and others, 2017; Chambers, Maestas, and others, 2017). Conifer cover was measured using the RAP v2 (table 1; Allred and others, 2021)

Human modifications to natural ecosystems, including landcover conversion for urban, agricultural, and energy development, also reduce SEI at local and landscape scales. Human modification to and land-use change of sagebrush ecosystems have altered or removed native vegetation cover over millions of acres (Reeves and others, 2018). Landcover conversion and modification of natural ecological processes across the ecosystem vary in extent and severity and include agriculture, urban development, resource extraction and energy development (for example, hard rock mining, and oil and gas drilling), and residential and industrial infrastructure (roads, transmission lines, railroads, and pipelines; table 2). Conversion of native sagebrush to other landcover types results in direct habitat loss for sagebrush-obligate wildlife species, such as greater sage-grouse and Centrocercus minimus (J.R. Young, C.E. Braun, S.J. Oyler-McCance, J.R. Hupp & T.W. Quinn, 2000) (Gunnison sage-grouse) and Brewer's sparrow (Monroe and others, 2021). Similarly, pygmy rabbits avoid roadsides with reduced sagebrush cover (Pierce and others, 2011). Additionally, roads and other human modifications to sagebrush communities serve as vectors for exotic plant invasion and establishment (Gelbard and Belnap, 2003; Manier and others, 2011; Barlow and others, 2017). Mean human modification of the sagebrush biome was measured using the methods of Theobald and others (2020, table 2).

#### Sagebrush Ecological Integrity Functional Relationships

Continuous functional relationship curves were created by experts to quantify the relationship between the percent of each variable within a patch-scale (560 meter [m]) and the component SEI values (Q; roughly interpreted as "quality"), resulting in values that ranged from zero to one (figs. 2 and 3). This analysis was conducted using 30-m-resolution data averaged by a 560-m-radius window because this has been shown to be a strong predictor scale for greater sage-grouse habitat selection when using a threat-based framework (Doherty and others, 2021). This scale also made it possible to identify patches of relatively intact sagebrush with perennial understories. Monte Carlo simulations were used to assess the sensitivity of overall SEI estimates to uncertainty in expert-based relationships between individual Q curves in figures 2 and 3. This sensitivity analysis demonstrated that the SEI estimates were stable up to variation of 1 standard deviation (see section 2 of appendix 1). Consequently, the results discussed in the main body of this report are, at a biome-wide extent, largely robust to the estimated relationships specified in the SEI model (see section 2 of appendix 1).

Continuous relationships representing how SEI is influenced by each of the five indicators were defined. SEI is decreased at low levels of sagebrush or perennial grass cover, and decreased at high levels of annual grasses, conifers, and human modification (figs. 2 and 3). Thus, for each location, these relationships generated five Q values that combine to estimate SEI values that can range from zero to one (eq. 1).

$$SEI_{560} = Q_{sage} \times Q_{perennial grass} \times Q_{annual grass} \times Q_{conifer} \times Q_{human modification}(1)$$

where  $SEI_{560}$  denotes the multiplicative SEI score for each 30m x 30m pixel and Q values are derived from the relationships for each remotely-sensed indicator (figs. 2 and 3). A rangeland mask was applied to remove locations that are dominated by nonrangeland land-cover types (for example, urban areas, croplands, roads, and so forth; Maestas and others, 2020). Locations typically above timberline that were identified as tundra ecological systems from the USGS GAP landcover dataset (U.S. Geological Survey Gap Analysis Project, 2016) were removed as well. The percent cover of all five variables was calculated for each pixel using a Gaussian kernel within a 560-m radius (Gorelick and others, 2017).

#### Defining Core Sagebrush Areas, Growth Opportunity Areas, and Other Rangeland Areas

The average  $SEI_{560}$  value within a 2-km radius Gaussian kernel was calculated (to obtain  $SEI_{2000}$  values) to reflect a broader, management-relevant scale. This calculation was

done to identify the patches of sagebrush that had sufficient perennial herbaceous understories and low levels of the three threats, as defined by the Q curves, to create large and intact landscapes. *SEI*<sub>2000</sub> was then used as the continuous values to define CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs.

To define these three classes, outliers in the distribution were removed by finding the bottom and top 1 percent of the  $SEI_{2000}$  values (0.002 and 0.7988), respectively. The  $SEI_{2000}$  values were then normalized so that the minimum (0.002) and maximum (0.7988) values would equal 0.0 and 1.0 (that is, a unit scale normalization). The normalized  $SEI_{2000}$  values were then binned into equal intervals that ranged from 1 to 10 and where values greater than or equal to 9 represent the top ~10 percent of possible normalized values. The normalized  $SEI_{2000}$  values were found to be coincident with the decile breaks, which were 0.002, 0.009, 0.068, 0.115, 0.173, 0.244, 0.326, 0.431, 0.565.

The equal interval classification methodology was used because it ensures that values with similar  $SEI_{2000}$  scores are contained within the same bins and because it is easy to interpret and explain. The outliers of the distribution were removed before the  $SEI_{2000}$  values were normalized into equal interval break values to create a better distribution of values within each class. Quantile classification was not used because it would have resulted both in large differences in  $SEI_{2000}$ scores contained within a single bin and in multiple bins differing by very small amounts. This is because the  $SEI_{2000}$ values were not uniformly distributed, and a large proportion of the study area had low values.

Note that during the review of the Great Plains region, the experts on the team made minor adjustments to the response curves (Q values) to generate the final  $SEI_{2000}$  values. The 99 percent threshold used to remove outliers (see the text above on defining the three classes) was adjusted slightly to 0.767 from the original value of 0.798. Because the class breaks from the previous decile calculations were reviewed in detail by the advisory group, the study team retained the original class breaks after reviewing the choropleth-maps in detail and observing no significant differences. The team also reviewed the distribution of the class breaks for obvious breaks in slope as another line of evidence in grouping the decile bins. Based upon these reviews, the CSAs were then defined as those areas representing the top  $\sim 20$  percent of normalized SEI2000 scores. Growth opportunity areas were defined in the next highest ~50 percent of normalized  $SEI_{2000}$ scores. Lastly, ORAs were defined as the lowest ~30 percent of normalized SEI<sub>2000</sub> scores.

#### Table 2. Threats and datasets used to estimate the degree of human modification in the sagebrush biome.

[Methods follow Theobald and others (2020). Threat (stressor) classification levels in parentheses correspond to those within the Direct Threats Classification v2 (Salafsky and others, 2008). Scale (or ratio) refers to the resolution of the dataset, and year represents the time for which the data were collected. BF, US Building Footprints; BLM, Bureau of Land Management; EIA, U.S. Energy Information Administration; HGL, hydrocarbon gas liquids; LCMAP, Land Change Monitoring, Assessment, and Projection; NCEI, National Centers for Environmental Information; NLCD, National Land Cover Dataset; NOAA, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; TIGER, Topologically Integrated Geographic Encoding and Referencing; U.S. Census, U.S. Bureau of the Census; USDA, U.S. Department of Agriculture; USFS, U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service; USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; VIIRS, Visible Infrared Imaging Radiometer Suite; WRI, World Resources Institute; km, kilometer; m, meter; *n*, number; No<sub>x</sub>, nitrous oxides; So<sub>x</sub> sulfuric oxides; ~, approximately]

Class	Threat (stressor)*	Source	Scale (m or ratio)	Year
Urban and built-up (1)	Built-up (1.1, 1.2)	NLCD (www.mrlc.gov; Jin and others, 2019)	30 m	2016
		Low-density residential (approx. <1 unit per 2 acres; BF [Microsoft Corp., 2019])	30 m	2015
Agriculture (2)	Croplands and pasturelands (2.1)	NLCD	30 m	2019
		USDA Cropland Data Layer (Boryan and others, 2011; Lark and others, 2017)	30 m	2017–19
	Grazing (2.3)	Active grazing allotments on BLM or USFS public lands (Bureau of Land Management, 2019; U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, 2020a)	30 m	~2017
Energy production and mining (3)	Oil and gas production (3.1)	Oil and gas wells: FracTracker (www.fractracker.org; <i>n</i> =1,193,570 [Homer and others, 2020]), and from NLCD impervi- ous description	30 m	2016
		Petroleum refineries (EIA; n=129)	30 m	2020
	Mining and quarrying (3.2)	Surface mine footprints (Maus and others, 2020)	1 km 30 m	2018 2019
	Renewable (3.3) and nonrenew- able power (1.2) generation	World Resources Institute powerplants (World Resources Institute, 2019)	~1:100,000	2019
		NLCD impervious descriptor	30 m	2016
Transportation and	Roads (4.1)	U.S. Census TIGER Roads	~1:10–25,000	2019
service corridors (4)	Railways (4.1)	U.S. Census TIGER Railways	~1:10–25,000	2019
	Powerlines and pipelines (4.2)	Powerlines, and pipelines for HGL, natural gas, petroleum products from the EIA;	~1:10–25,000	2019
	Electrical infrastructure (4.2)	Nighttime lights from VIIRS; Earth Observation Group, NOAA/NCEI (Elvidge and others, 2013; https://eogdata.mines.edu)	375 m	2019
Biological harvesting (5)	Logging and wood harvesting (5.3)	Timber harvest (U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, 2020c) Forest change using USGS LCMAP (Zhou and others, 2020) and wildfire perimeters (Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity Project, 2021)	30 m	2020
Human intrusions (6)	Human intrusion (1.3, 5.1, 5.2, 6.1)	Ski resorts (U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, 2020b)	30 m	2019
Natural system modifi- cations (7)	Reservoirs (7.2)	National Inventory of Dams (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2020)	~1:25,000	2019
Pollution (9)	Air pollution (9.5)	Deposition for NO <sub>x</sub> and SO <sub>x</sub> (Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, 2020)	3,000 m	2019

\*Based on interpolation.



**Figure 2.** The functional relationship between the proportion of *A*, sagebrush and *B*, perennial grass within a 560-meter (m) Gaussian kernel to relative sagebrush ecological integrity (*Q* values), which allows a comparison of each 30-m pixel in the entire sagebrush biome of the United States. Expert opinions were used to define *Q* values as a relative ranking system for components of sagebrush ecological integrity.



**Figure 3.** The functional relationship between the proportion of three primary threats to the sagebrush biome—invasive annual grasses, human modification, and tree (conifer) expansion—within a 560-meter (m) Gaussian kernel to relative sagebrush ecological integrity (*Q* values), which allows a comparison of each 30-m pixel in the entire sagebrush biome of the United States. Expert opinions were used to define *Q* values as a relative ranking system for components of sagebrush ecological integrity.

### Objective 2: Evaluate Spatial Congruence With Single-Species Populations and Agency Priority Areas

For this analysis, areas designated as CSA and GOA were compared with priority habitat areas defined for single species that spanned the biome (that is, greater sage-grouse [Doherty and others, 2016], sagebrush obligate songbirds [USFWS, 2022b], and pygmy rabbits [Smith and others, 2019]). Also, the CSA and GOA areas were compared with existing agency and organization prioritizations; that is, those of States, the Bureau of Land Management (BLM), the U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service (USFS), the NRCS, and the USFWS.

These comparisons have three benefits. First, having different methodologies and paradigms highlight similar landscapes increases the scientific rigor of and confidence in the results of the analysis (Romesburg, 1981). Second, the comparisons make it possible to quantify the percent of focal species populations within the CSAs and GOAs and the spatial overlap between existing agency priority areas. For the purposes of this evaluation, "priority areas" were considered to include Priority Areas for Conservation (or PACs, as developed by States), the BLM and USFS Priority Habitat Management Areas (PHMAs), and the USFWS Sagebrush Strategic Habitat Conservation (SHC) 50% Wildlife Population Cores. This comparison was done to identify where priority areas aligned with the umbrella of CSAs and GOAs. Third, the comparisons highlight areas that are unique and would be missed by focusing solely on CSAs and GOAs.

To determine the percentage of a focal species population contained in CSAs and GOAs, the SEI results were compared with published spatial distribution models for the following five focal sagebrush species: greater sage-grouse (Doherty and others, 2016), Brewer's sparrow, sagebrush sparrow, sage thrasher (USFWS, 2022b), and pygmy rabbit (Smith and others, 2019). For each focal species model, the summation of model values for pixels within the CSAs and GOAs was divided by the summation of model values for the entire SEI model area to obtain the percent of individual populations contained within the study extent. The difference in the amount of the population versus the area of CSAs and GOAs was calculated by dividing the percent of the population contained within the CSA or GOA by the percent area of the CSA or GOA relative to our modeled sagebrush rangelands. A percentage greater than 100 indicates that the CSAs and GOAs are identifying landscapes with higher densities of priority species than would be expected by their area alone.

To quantify the proportion of joint priority areas within the umbrella of CSAs and GOAs, a calculation of the percent overlap between agency specific conservation priority areas to nonrangelands, ORAs, CSAs, and GOAs was performed. A spatial representation of these analyses was prepared to visualize the congruence and divergence between the areas; this was done by identifying the percentage of area where CSAs and GOAs overlapped with one or more agency management designations, where CSAs and GOAs did not overlap with one or more agency management designations, and where no agency designations overlapped CSAs or GOAs. Anchor areas were defined and mapped as landscapes where CSAs and GOAs overlapped with one or more agency management designations and had no to low threats for all three of the modeled threats. These anchor landscapes represent places that are prioritized in multiple planning efforts and align with the "defend the core" strategy.

Long-term changes in greater sage-grouse population abundance were calculated in a separate study (Coates and others, 2021) and summarized within the categories of the conservation design (CSA, GOA, and ORA). This summarization was done to examine differences in range-wide population trends between categories. Trends in sage-grouse leks (breeding-grounds) in CSAs were expected to be higher than those in GOAs, and lek trends in GOAs were expected to be higher than those in ORAs. The leks were assigned categories (CSA, GOA, and ORA) based upon their location in 2019. Long-term changes in greater sage-grouse population abundance for all leks within each category were summarized. Once assigned to a category, posterior distributions of greater sage-grouse abundance and intrinsic rate of population change  $(\hat{r})$  were summarized according to the parameter of interest  $(\hat{N} = \text{summed}, \hat{r} = \text{averaged})$  and converted to finite rate of change ( $\lambda$ ) as  $e^{\hat{r}}$ . Long-term trends were calculated for each category based on the annual estimates from their constituent leks. Trends of greater sage-grouse abundance were summarized using the median estimates from the posterior probability distributions (highest probability value) of abundance at 4,478 leks, which spanned the species' distribution within the sagebrush biome in 11 Western States.

The team evaluated differences in range-wide trends of greater sage-grouse population abundance over a recent 24-year period (1996 to 2019), which corresponds to the general duration of threat-based design for this study. The 1996 to 2019 period is a reasonable timeframe to summarize long-term changes in greater sage-grouse population abundance because (1) the start (1996) represented a population nadir (lowest points in oscillations of abundance), (2) 1996 represented the lowest point in range-wide abundance during the past 60 years, and (3) the time series was long enough to incorporate sufficient variability in the form of environmental and demographic stochasticity (Coates and others, 2021). The final year of the trend time-series (2019) from Coates and others (2021) represents the lowest population abundance (that is, nadir) in the most recent oscillation. If 2019 did not represent a nadir and populations continued to decline range-wide in 2020 and 2021, then overall trend estimates summarized within this report by CSA, GOA, and ORA may be conservative and change with updated data from 2020 and 2021. Regardless, the relative differences in trends between categories serve as an evaluation of the SEI concept.

### Objective 3: Quantify Status of Sagebrush Rangelands Relative to Primary Threats in 2020

The type, location, and acres of threats within the different categories (CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs) were described for the following three threats: (1) annual grass cover; (2) conifer; and (3) human modification of the environment. A risk assessment framework (Connelly and others, 2018) was used where the potential risk of these threats was modeled across the sagebrush biome using the spatial overlap between the CSA and GOA models, and the hazard levels for each threat were

defined using the most recent year of available data coverage (that is, 2019 for human modification and 2020 for invasive annual grass and conifer cover). The hazard levels—no to low, moderate, high, and very high—were set by thresholds of raw data values (for example, percent cover of annual grasses; table 3). These areas of overlap were expressed in risk matrixes, which were unique combinations of SEI classes by hazard level for each threat. These matrixes are intended to identify areas for potential targeting with the "defend the core," "grow the core," and "mitigate impacts" strategies (fig. 4).

**Table 3.** Levels of threat as measured by the percent cover for three of the largest threats to the sagebrush biome of the United States (invasive annual grasses, conifer woodlands expansion, and human modification).

[No to low threats represent a proactive and preventative care approach. Treatments within no to low threats often have higher success rates with lower costs. High and very high threats represent reactive and emergency care approaches within degraded states. Treatments within these areas have lower success rates and are more expensive. Moderate threats represent areas that are in transition. %, percent; NA, not applicable]

Threat	No to low	Moderate	High	Very high
Invasive annual grasses*	$\geq 0$ to $\leq 8\%$	$> 8$ to $\le 15\%$	> 15%	NA
Conifer expansion	$\geq 0$ to $\leq 2\%$	$> 2$ to $\le 10\%$	$> 10$ to $\le 20\%$	> 20%
Human modification	$\geq 0$ to $\leq 3\%$	$> 3$ to $\le 15\%$	> 15%	NA

\*Breaks for the Great Plains region were 0% to 15% for no to low threat, 15% to 42% for moderate threat, and > 42% for high threat. This is because of a much higher ratio of perennial grasses to annual grasses within the ecoregion. Further, preliminary research suggests that fires in this ecoregion reset the area to perennial grass (Porensky and Blumenthal, 2016; Symstad and others, 2021), which will naturally transition to sagebrush through time (Johnson and others, 2019).

	Other Rangeland Areas	Growth Opportunity Areas	Core Sagebrush Areas
No to Low Threats	Assess Other Threats	Defend	Defend
Moderate Threats	Mitigate	Grow	Grow
High Threats	Mitigate	Mitigate	Grow/ Mitigate
Very High Threats	Mitigate	Mitigate	Grow/ Mitigate

Figure 4. Conceptual threat matrix to align multithreat conservation strategies for core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas identified for the sagebrush biome of the United States with the conceptual classes (strategies) of "defend the core," "grow the core," and "mitigate impacts" (Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2020, 2021b; Western Governors' Association, 2020). The areas that align with the defend the core and grow the core strategy were spatially intersected and tabulated by conducting a matrix overlay using the classes defined in the figure. For each threat, the acres of treatment needed where "grow" is labeled in the matrix were summed. High and very high threats with "grow/mitigate" are labeled this way to highlight that treatment options may not be available for all areas that are subject to high or very high threats. Colors in the matrix correspond to colors on the maps in figures 8 through 11.

### Objective 4: Evaluate Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Change in Sagebrush Ecological Integrity

Trends were calculated for all components of SEI (that is, for each Q value) and in CSAs and GOAs for 2001 to 2020. Accounting for these dynamic changes through time is critical in determining potential net conservation uplift and the resources needed to generate that uplift during conservation planning, yet this accounting may be ignored when setting conservation goals (Doherty and others, 2013). SEI and its component values were modeled for 2001, 2006, 2011, 2016, and 2020, which coincided with National Land Cover Dataset data availability for human modification (table 2). Each time step label denotes the last of the 4 years during which values were averaged (that is, the label 2001 includes averaged values from 1998 to 2001). Wildfire effects were accounted for by removing the Q values for the component layers for years prior to the event, for pixels that sustained a fire event. This method made it possible to visually depict and calculate changes in area of CSAs and GOAs attributable to changes in sagebrush cover, perennial grass cover, annual grass invasion, conifer encroachment, and human modification. To delineate CSAs and GOAs prior to 2020, the class breaks identified using 2020 data (SEI<sub>2000</sub>) were applied to the SEI model created for 2001, 2006, 2011, and 2016. The location and areas of CSAs and GOAs gained or lost were then calculated to determine the overall trends and spatial variation in SEI across time steps. To analyze trends in CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs, the areas of these three zones were extracted for each time step. Simple linear regression models were generated to characterize how the CSAs and the intersection of CSAs and GOAs (CSA+GOA) have changed over time. The rates were derived from a simple linear regression on area with time step as the only predictor variable. Simple linear regression does not account for temporal autocorrelation and may obscure fluctuations in time, but it is an appropriate approach for evaluating general trends in this context, particularly because the underlying data were averaged into multiyear time steps and because the assumption of a monotonic relationship (here, decreasing) largely holds upon visual inspection of the data. These models provide a generalized (that is, over 5-year time steps) rate of change of CSAs and CSAs+GOAs, which were then used to project the future year at which one-half of the areas have transitioned to lower classes. The models were generated and applied using R software version 4.1.2 (R Core Team, 2021).

#### Objective 5: First Look at Climatic Effects on Core Sagebrush Areas, Growth Opportunity Areas, and Other Rangeland Areas

To evaluate the potential effects of climate change, an estimate of how SEI would be altered by potential future shifts in the climate suitability for Artemisia tridentata Nutt. (big sagebrush), perennial grasses, and invasive annual grasses was made. To do this, the study team used recent results that quantify long-term climate-driven change in the biomass of these plant functional groups across the sagebrush biome (Palmquist and others, 2021). Briefly, changes in the biomass of each plant functional group are derived from an individual-based plant simulation model (STEPWAT2; Palmquist and others, 2018) that represents plant competition for water availability, which is estimated by a process-based soil water balance model (SOILWAT2; Schlaepfer and Murphy, 2018). Similar models have been used across the sagebrush biome (for example, Schlaepfer and others, 2012) operating under a range of future climate scenarios and models (for example, Bradford and others, 2020). Results presented here are based on an estimated change in biomass for recent climate (1980 to 2010) and near-term future climate (2030 to 2060) projections under representative concentration pathway 8.5 (RCP 8.5; which is the worst-case scenario) for the median value estimated from a representative set of 13 climate models (Palmquist and others, 2021). The representation of climate change for this initial assessment focused only on changing climatic suitability; subsequent analyses could expand to also represent the influence of climate change on wildfire and invasive species

Biomass changes were scaled to represent change as a percentage of maximum biomass under historical conditions, creating an index of change in potential suitability (*DeltaS*) to support the functional group that ranges from -1 (complete loss of suitability) to +1 (change from no suitability to maximum suitability). For each plant functional type, a calculation of the median *DeltaS* was made among the 13 climate models, and those factors were applied to estimate cover (*C*) under future conditions ( $C_{\text{FUTURE}}$ ) from cover under current conditions ( $C_{\text{CURRENT}}$ ) for each plant functional type as:

$$C_{\rm FUTURE} = C_{\rm CURRENT} \times (1 + DeltaS) \tag{2}$$

Future ecological integrity was then calculated using the  $C_{\rm FUTURE}$  values for sagebrush, perennial grasses, and invasive annual grass.

## **Results**

### Objective 1: Model Integrity of the Sagebrush Ecosystem

Within sagebrush rangelands identified in 2020, 13.6 percent (33.4 million acres) was classified as CSAs, 34.4 percent (84.3 million acres) as GOAs, and 51.9 percent (127.2 million acres) as ORAs. This equates to 117.7 million acres of CSAs and GOAs combined (fig. 5, time step 2020).

### Objective 2: Evaluate Spatial Congruence With Single-Species Populations and Agency Priority Areas

Large spatial congruence was found between the priority area predicted for individual species and the 2020 CSAs and GOAs (table 4). The CSAs encompass up to 40 percent of focal species populations and, when combined with GSAs, encompass up to 84 percent (table 4). Combined, GOAs and CSAs were found to support up to 1.8 times more focal species than would be expected for a randomly selected area of similar size. CSAs were found to support up to 2.9 times more of the focal species than random areas (table 4). The CSAs and GOAs supported more of the populations of greater sage-grouse and pygmy rabbit than populations of Brewer's sparrow, sagebrush sparrow, and sage thrasher (table 4).

Using the 2020 data, CSAs and GOAs displayed a high degree of overlap with existing agency management designations. The CSAs and GOAs contained 71 percent of the BLM and USFS Priority Habitat Management Areas (PHMAs); 15 percent of the PHMAs were in ORAs and 14 percent were outside of sagebrush rangelands (table 5). For greater sagegrouse Priority Areas for Conservation (PACs) delineated by State wildlife agencies, 62 percent were contained within CSAs and GOAs (table 5). In addition, 19 percent of PACs were located in ORAs, and 19 percent were outside of the sagebrush rangelands modeled. Across all State and Federal agency prioritization efforts, the largest differences in spatial congruence occurred in the southern portion of the sagebrush biome, generally in areas outside the range of greater sagegrouse, and in the Great Plains ecoregion where sagebrush and grassland-dominated communities intermix (fig. 6).

CSAs and GOAs were found to encompass a large proportion of sage-grouse leks and successfully identified locations of sage-grouse population growth. Of the 4,478 greater sage-grouse leks used to evaluate trends within unique sagebrush areas, 1,785 (39.9 percent) were located within CSAs, 1,701 (38.0 percent) were located

within GOAs, 647 (14.4 percent) were located within ORAs, and 345 (7.7 percent) were located outside all three. Summaries of abundance in 1996, using the median values of the posterior distributions, showed similar patterns for population size (CSAs contained 40.2 percent of the leks; GOAs, 36.5 percent; ORAs, 14.5 percent; outside all three areas, 8.8 percent). By 2019, the same summaries revealed that populations located in CSAs were the only ones to have exhibited net growth, having increased by 15.7 percent during the 24-year period and now representing 52.5 percent of the total population size (fig. 7). Conversely, populations from leks in GOAs declined by 24.8 percent relative to the 1996 values (fig. 7), accounting for 31.0 percent of the population in 2019; those in ORAs declined by 45.3 percent (fig. 7), accounting for 9.0 percent of the 2019 population); and those outside of these three areas declined by 24.1 percent, accounting for 7.5 percent of the 2019 population. Median estimates of  $\lambda$  of finite rate of population change were as follows: 1.006 for CSAs, 0.988 for GOAs, and 0.974 for ORAs. Areas classified as nonrangeland exhibited a finite rate of change similar to that of the GOAs.

### Objective 3: Quantify Status of Sagebrush Rangelands Relative to Primary Threats in 2020

Within CSAs, 83.2 percent of the area had no to low levels for all three modeled threats, whereas 52.3 percent of the GOAs had no to low threats. Between the CSAs (33.4 million acres total) and GOAs (84.3 million acres total), there are 71.9 million acres of landscapes with no to low threats distributed across the entire sagebrush biome (fig. 8). Within ORAs, 26.5 percent (33.7 million acres) had no to low threats. Of the 95.6 million acres of CSAs and GOAs that co-occurred with  $\geq$  1 agency management designation, 45.8 million acres had no to low threats for all threats (fig. 6).

Invasive annual grasses accounted for 19.2 million of the 38 million acres (table 6) identified as "grow the core" treatment opportunity areas within the conceptual threat matrix to align multithreat conservation strategies for CSAs and GOAs (fig. 4). The analysis highlights the growing invasive annual grass challenge in the tri-State area of Oregon, Idaho, and Nevada (fig. 9). It also shows an increasing level of invasive annual grasses in the Great Plains region (fig. 9). A total of 8.9 million acres of conifer was identified as needing treatment in areas with moderate threats for both CSAs and GOAs and high or very high threats in CSAs (fig. 10, table 6). In addition, 10.3 million acres of human modification were within the moderate threat category for both CSAs and GOAs and the high threat category for CSAs (fig. 11, table 6).



Figure 5. Change over time (from 2001 to 2020) in the size and extent of core sagebrush areas (CSAs) as well as growth opportunity areas (GOAs) and other rangeland areas (ORAs) within the sagebrush biome of the United States.

**Table 4.** Percent of five priority focal species populations encompassed within 2020 core sagebrush areas and within the 2020 core sagebrush areas plus the 2020 growth opportunity areas compared to the entire sagebrush ecological integrity model area.

[Species models used included *Centrocercus urophasianus* L. (greater sage-grouse), *Spizella breweri* (Cassin, 1856) (Brewer's sparrow), *Artemisiospiza nevadensis* (Ridgway, 1874) (sagebrush sparrow), *Oreoscoptes montanus* (J.K. Townsend, 1837) (sage thrasher), and *Brachylagus idahoensis* (Merriam, 1891) (pygmy rabbit). Numbers within the parentheses denote how much more of the priority species populations are predicted to be contained than would be expected based upon area alone. CSAs, core sagebrush areas; GOAs, growth opportunity areas; %, percent]

Species	Percent of population in CSAs	Percent of Population in CSAs + GOAs
Greater sage-grouse	40% (294%)	84% (175%)
Brewer's sparrow	21% (154%)	64% (133%)
Sagebrush sparrow	21% (154%)	61% (127%)
Sage thrasher	25% (184%)	67% (140%)
Pygmy rabbit	36% (265%)	78% (163%)

# **Table 5.** The percent of existing management designations (as of 2020) within the sagebrush biome used by State and Federal agencies that are contained within core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas.

[The Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) has prioritized efforts based upon *Centrocercus urophasianus* L. (greater sage-grouse) Priority Areas for Conservation (PACs) developed by the States. The Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service (USFS) have prioritized areas based upon greater sage-grouse designated Priority Habitat Management Areas (PHMAs). The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) conservation efforts are based upon four sagebrush obligate songbirds—greater sage-grouse, *Spizella breweri* (Cassin, 1856) (Brewer's sparrow), *Artemisiospiza nevadensis* (Ridgway, 1874) (sagebrush sparrow), *Oreoscoptes montanus* (J.K. Townsend, 1837) (sage thrasher)—as well as *Brachylagus idahoensis* (Merriam, 1891) (pygmy rabbit). The USFWS areas represent the smallest total area within the sagebrush biome predicted to contain 50 percent of all obligate songbird populations; that is, Sagebrush Strategic Habitat Conservation (SHC) 50% Wildlife Population Cores. %, percent; CSA, core sagebrush area; GOA, growth opportunity area; NA, not applicable; ORA, other rangeland area; WLFW, Working Lands for Wildlife]

	States: Sage-grouse PACs and cores	NRCS: WLFW	BLM and USFS: PHMA	USFWS: Sagebrush SHC 50% Wildlife Population Cores
CSAs and GOAs	62%	62%	71%	75%
ORAs	19%	19%	15%	25%
Nonrangeland	19%	19%	14%	NA



Figure 6. Identifying anchor points (that is, areas of spatial congruence) between core sagebrush areas (CSAs) and growth opportunity areas (GOAs) and existing (as of 2020) agency prioritizations within the sagebrush biome. Locations where core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas co-occur with at least one other agency designation were labeled Both. These designations included: (a) Centrocercus urophasianus L. (greater sage-grouse) Priority Areas for Conservation (PACs), as used by State agencies and the National Resources Conservation Service: (b) Priority Habitat Management Areas (PHMAs), as used by the Bureau of Land Management and the U.S. Forest Service; and (c) Sagebrush Strategic Habitat Conservation (SHC) 50% Wildlife Population Cores for sagebrush obligate birds-greater sage-grouse, Spizella breweri (Cassin, 1856) (Brewer's sparrow), Artemisiospiza nevadensis (Ridgway, 1874) (sagebrush sparrow), and *Oreoscoptes* montanus (J.K. Townsend, 1837) (sage thrasher)—as used by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Additionally, the location of the areas with spatial congruence between plans which also had no to low threats for invasive annual grasses, human modification, and conifer woodlands expansion were identified (dark blue). These areas represent anchor points for conservation delivery actions. Fed, Federal







**Figure 8.** Location and extent of three mapped threats spatially intersected with core sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas across the sagebrush biome of the United States for 2020. Blue areas (dark and light, representing core sagebrush areas [CSAs] and growth opportunity areas [GOAs], respectively) are locations of high sagebrush ecological integrity and could serve as anchor points in an overall biome-wide strategy.



**Figure 9.** Location and extent of the invasive annual grass threat across the sagebrush biome in the United States for 2020. Blue areas (dark and light, representing core sagebrush areas [CSAs] and growth opportunity areas [GOAs], respectively) are locations of high sagebrush ecological integrity and could serve as anchor points in an overall biome-wide strategy. A separate, high-resolution portable document format (PDF) version of this map is available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20221081 so stakeholders can zoom in and see the results at much smaller scales.



**Figure 10.** Location and extent of the conifer threat across the sagebrush biome in the United States for 2020. Blue areas (dark and light, representing core sagebrush areas [CSAs] and growth opportunity areas [GOAs], respectively) are locations of high sagebrush ecological integrity and could serve as anchor points in an overall biome-wide strategy. A separate, high-resolution portable document format (PDF) version of this map is available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20221081 so stakeholders can zoom in and see the results at much smaller scales. By zooming in, one can see better that conifer threats are occurring at the edges of CSAs and GOAs and are not well represented at a range-wide extent.

21



**Figure 11.** Location and extent of the human modification threat across the sagebrush biome in the United States for 2020. Blue areas (dark and light, representing core sagebrush areas [CSAs] and growth opportunity areas [GOAs], respectively) are locations of high sagebrush ecological integrity and could serve as anchor points in an overall biome-wide strategy. A separate, high-resolution portable document format (PDF) version of this map is available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20221081 so that stakeholders can zoom in and see the results at much smaller scales. By zooming in, one can see better that human modification threats are occurring at the edges of CSAs and GOAs and are not well represented at a range-wide extent.

**Table 6.**Results of spatially explicit risk matrixes between core sagebrush areas, growth opportunity areas, and other rangelandareas by three of the largest known threats to the sagebrush biome of the United States (invasive annual grasses, conifer woodlandsexpansion, and human modification) as of 2020.

[Matrix values are areas in million acres; the colors correspond to the conceptual strategies outlined in figure 4. NA, not applicable]

	Area and threat								
Threat level	Other rangeland area	Growth opportunity area	Core sagebrush area						
Invasive annual grass									
No to low	72.4	61.0	29.8						
Moderate	19.4	15.6	3.2						
High	35.5	7.7	0.4						
Very high	NA	NA	NA						
	Coni	fer woodlands							
No to low	97.5	73.8	32.1						
Moderate	17.0	7.6	1.1						
High	7.6	1.9	0.1						
Very high	5.1	1.0	0.1						
Human modification									
No to low	93.7	73.6	32.4						
Moderate	20.9	9.4	0.8						
High	12.7	1.4	0.1						
Very high	NA	NA	NA						

### **Objective 4: Evaluate Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Change in Sagebrush Ecological Integrity**

The team documented 53.8, 90.7, and 100.4 million acres of CSA, GOA, and ORA, respectively, in 2001 (fig. 5). By 2020, however, 20.4 million acres of CSA and 6.4 million acres of GOA had transitioned to ORA, leaving 33.4 and 84.3 million acres of CSA and GOA, respectively. This equates to an average of 0.9 million acres of CSA (CSA trend *F*-statistic = 10.64, *d.f.* = 3, and *p* = 0.047, where the *F*-statistic is a value on the theoretical F distribution, d.f. is the degrees of freedom, and p is the probability value) or 1.3 million acres of CSA+GOA (CSA+GOA trend *F*-statistic = 24.13, *d.f.* = 3, and *p* = 0.016) transitioning to ORA each year during the past two decades. Unabated, these rates would equate to one-half of the remaining CSA+GOA transitioning to ORA by 2042 and one-half of the remaining CSA+GOA transitioning to ORA by 2065.

These ongoing and anticipated losses in areas of high ecological integrity have been driven primarily by the incursions of invasive annual grasses across the three ecoregions (fig. 12). By 2020 (the final year examined), more areas were moderately or highly threatened by invasive annual grasses than in any year prior, including more than one-half of the Southern Great Basin region. A sudden increase relative to 2016 (the penultimate year examined) was particularly pronounced in the Great Plains region, although none of this region had been deemed high risk. The threat of conifer expansion into the no to low category showed an increase compared with that of 2001; however, expansion into this category held steady from 2016 to 2020, especially in the Intermountain West and Southern Great Basin regions. The team also documented infill of conifer stands, showing an increase in the areas classified as high or very high risk, especially in the Intermountain West region. The footprint of human modification remained relatively constant over time within regions, but the footprints varied considerably across regions-for example, more than 90 percent of the Southern Great Basin region remained at no to low risk by 2020 compared with only 60 percent of the Great Plains region remaining at this level.





**Figure 12.** Trends in three primary threats (invasive annual grasses, conifer woodlands expansion, and human modification) to the three regions of the sagebrush biome (Great Plains, Intermountain West, and Southern Great Basin) in the United States from 1998 to 2020.

### Objective 5: First Look at Climatic Effects on Core Sagebrush Areas, Growth Opportunity Areas, and Other Rangeland Areas

At the biome scale, climate change effects on the overall area of CSAs are relatively modest for the mid-century projections (table 7). Of the currently estimated 33.4 million acres of CSAs, 1.5 million acres (4.5 percent) are projected to change to GOAs and 1.7 million acres (5.0 percent) to change to ORAs by the year 2060. Of the 84.3 million GOA acres under current conditions, 2.4 million acres (2.8 percent) are predicted to shift to CSAs, and 12.8 million acres (15.2 percent) are predicted to shift to ORAs. Of the current ORAs, 1.9 million acres (1.5 percent) are expected to shift to GOAs, whereas no ORAs would shift to CSAs in the future projections. In combination, these trajectories suggest a net decline in CSAs of 0.8 million acres (2.4 percent) and a net decline in GOAs of 11.8 million acres (14 percent) during the next ~25 years.

Shifts from GOAs or CSAs to ORAs (14.5 million acres total) are expected primarily on the periphery of the sagebrush biome, particularly on the edges in the Northern Great Plains ecoregion, and in the southern and eastern portions of the Great Basin region (fig. 13). Areas shifting from GOAs to CSAs (2.4 million acres) typically represent expansion of existing CSAs and, as a result, are most abundant in the Great Basin region where current CSAs are composed of relatively small patches. Projected changes from CSAs or ORAs to GOAs (3.4 million acres) occur in small patches distributed around the biome, with the exception of the grassland interface on the most northern and eastern portions of the sagebrush biome (fig. 13).

 Table 7.
 Climate change prediction confusion matrix showing the predicted amount of change of core sagebrush areas (CSAs), growth opportunity areas (GSAs), and other rangeland areas (ORAs) from 2030 to 2060, in million acres.

[Stable areas (unchanged between current and future) for each category are indicated in the primary diagonal (in bold). Areas of change between current condition (in rows) to future conditions (in columns) are shown in the other unshaded cells; for example, the area that changed from CSA to GOA is 1.5 million acres. The total area in each category under current conditions and future conditions are shown in shaded cells in the table's far right column and bottom row, respectively]

			Future condition (2030–2060)			
		CSA	GOA	ORA	Current total	
Current condition (2020)	CSA	30.2	1.5	1.7	33.4	
	GOA	2.4	69.1	12.8	84.3	
	ORA	0.0	1.9	125.3	127.2	
	Future total	32.6	72.5	139.7		



**Figure 13.** Stability and predicted changes (increasing, stable, decreasing) to the location of core sagebrush areas (CSAs), growth opportunity areas (GOAs), and other rangeland areas (ORAs) based upon projected changes to sagebrush ecological integrity from climate change across the sagebrush biome in the United States. Results presented here are based on estimated change in biomass for recent climate (1980 to 2010) and near-term future climate (2030 to 2060) under representative concentration pathway 8.5 (RCP 8.5) for the median value estimated from a representative set of 13 climate models (Palmquist and others, 2021).

## Discussion

Our team developed a science-based strategy for the sagebrush biome to help unify conservation delivery, promote ecosystem-level setting of objectives, and provide a foundation for adaptive management. Our assessment of the condition of thesagebrush biome (that is, the location, amount, and conservation status) indicates that complex, ecosystem-level problems are driving more than ~73 percent of the threats identified as "grow the core" areas. Such problems may not be realistically addressed through command-and-control (Holling and Meffe, 1996) associated with regulatory-based solutions. Instead, active management and successful restoration may be able to more successfully mitigate complex ecosystem problems and (or) constrain their effects in space and time (Boyd and others, 2014). The spatial pattern of human modification indicates that threats are located on the periphery of CSAs and GOAs, have been largely stable for the past two decades (fig. 12), and are more prevalent in the Great Plains region where cropland is a larger ecosystem threat (fig. 11).

The ecological relevance of CSAs and GOAs have been demonstrated with independent datasets for sagebrush obligate species of conservation concern. Geographical patterns in SEI have been shown to be strongly associated with high priority species (table 4) and displayed clear links to population performance for greater sage-grouse (fig. 7). The link to sage-grouse population trends is important (fig. 7), as habitat management designations for this species have largely driven conservation actions across the sagebrush biome for the past several decades. Further, the positive trends in population abundance using Bayesian state-space models within CSAs (+15.7 percent) are one of the few positive trends compared to other trend analyses for this species (summarized in Coates and others, 2021). The evaluation of our model with independent empirically derived population models (Doherty and others, 2016; Coates and others, 2021), resource selection function models (Smith and others, 2019; USFWS, 2022b), and existing agency prioritization efforts (table 5), coupled with the stability of our results to simulated errors in our functional response curves (section 2 of appendix 1) suggest that our threat-based landscape conservation design, while simple, effectively identifies important habitats.

We parsed out the type, location, and acres of threats within the different categories (CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs) to help focus active management by identifying places where multiagency and organization efforts can protect CSAs that have higher levels of integrity with low cumulative threats (fig. 8). Across the sagebrush biome, the vast majority (83.2 percent) of CSAs were found to be located in the no to low risk category for all three threats (fig. 8, table 6) corresponding with our definition of SEI. Secondly, GOAs identify still-functioning ecosystems subject to moderate threats where conservation actions could address threats and grow them into CSAs. These GOAs are also especially important when adjacent to CSAs (NRCS, 2020, 2021b; WGA, 2020). Our risk analyses highlight areas where those threats are affecting CSAs and GOAs, as well as where they have already affected CSAs and GOAs. Mapped results of the risk analyses can be used to spatially prioritize and target conservation strategies (fig. 4). For example, the threats of conifer expansion and human modification are largely occurring on the periphery of CSAs and GOAs (fig. 10 and fig. 11). In contrast, invasive annual grasses have already affected a much greater proportion of CSAs and GOAs, with large areas of the Great Plains region under moderate threat and concentrations in the Southern Great Basin region under high threat (fig. 9).

The proposed threat-based design complements and enhances existing efforts to partition conservation within the sagebrush biome (fig. 6, table 5). The areas identified for conservation actions are largely within the boundaries of existing management and habitat designations (see fig. 6), and this design provides increased geographic specificity for prioritization, planning, and delivery within those boundaries. Specifically, the CSAs and GOAs help identify where (figs. 8 through 11) and how much (table 6) conservation is needed and provide insight into the magnitude of risk from ecosystem threats. Importantly, the ecosystem threats described herein are not static in space and time and may expand or contract in association with weather and climate factors, disturbances, and management practices (Reinhardt and others, 2020; Smith and others, 2022). Thus, as we and others have demonstrated, ecological conditions driven by such threats will display concomitant variability (Homer and others, 2015; Rigge, Shi, and others, 2021). The dynamic nature of these processes supports the idea of partitioning management resources within fluid geographies defined by current ecosystem attributes as opposed to management designations defined by static boundaries. We embrace that notion, and current designations within the proposed design are a product of the most recent analyses; we understand that those designations will change over time in accordance with spatially and temporally dynamic ecological conditions as driven by both desired and not desired change agents (fig. 5). As a result, this design serves not only as a decision support tool to inform conservation goals and management actions but also as a monitoring tool to track changes in ecological conditions over time. This approach also makes it possible to account for the interplay between spatial and temporal determinants of ecological conditions following disturbance. For example, the rate and extent of sagebrush recovery following fire is closely tied to elevation and other site factors, but it is also driven by antecedent, current, and following year precipitation amounts (Ziegenhagen and Miller, 2009) and restoration efforts (Boyd and others, 2014). Thus, the effects of wildfire or other disturbances in this design are determined by the observed post-disturbance conditions rather than generalized assumptions about disturbance impact.

Our analysis suggests that climate change (as represented here) alone is unlikely to be the dominant threat to SEI in the next few decades, although interactions of climate with wildfire and invasive annual grasses may be an important threat, especially in the longer term. Even during that short time frame, however, we project that climate change will exacerbate

the observed trends of declining SEI. Furthermore, because climate effects will likely accelerate later in the 21st century (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2021), preventing or lessening further degradation of the sagebrush biome could benefit from effective restoration strategies to enhance SEI before climate change further complicates efforts. In addition, it is important to recognize that the future scenarios evaluated in this analysis represent a conservative estimate of potential climate change effects for two reasons. First, these estimates of change in functional group abundance did not include interactions between climate change and the interaction between wildfire and invasives. Those interactions are expected to promote both stronger declines in big sagebrush and more substantial and widespread increases in invasive annual grasses (Bradley, 2009). Second, the mid-century changes considered here are likely to be less severe than changes in both climate and sagebrush plant communities that are likely to be observed by the end of the 21st century (Bradford and others, 2020; Palmquist and others, 2021). Future analyses may more completely describe the potential response of ecological integrity to a wide array of climate and disturbance scenarios, including quantification of uncertainty emerging from variability in climate trajectories.

As with any effort attempted at this scale, there are some important nuances and context that need to be applied when interpreting our results. First, the maps and matrixes developed in this threat-based design are most useful to inform large-scale planning (biome, State, region). The maps provide information about relative integrity and ecological context that highlight potential management interventions, but they lack site specific information and context. We modeled 244.9 million acres across the sagebrush biome, yet there were still greater sage-grouse lek locations (7.7 percent) outside of our study area. This is just one example of how local planning and site evaluation are critical to determine appropriate treatments. However, the threat matrixes and maps can facilitate conversations about shared values and goals, help set quantitative objectives and monitor success in achieving objectives, and inform discussions of strategies to meet shared goals. Second, resource prioritization is inherently hierarchical, and the relative importance of ORAs within biome subunits (for example, States or land management units within a State) may differ from that associated with a biome-wide ranking. Third, management in ORAs could focus on activities that promote containment of ecosystem problems, such as invasive annual grasses and wildfire, especially where ORAs pose a threat because of close proximity with CSAs and GOAs. Further, the current analyses did not account for the potential importance of ORAs for other uses (for example, restoring to allow connectivity of more intact landscapes, migration corridors, and distributions of small endemic populations) or for the potentially dynamic compositional changes associated with some highly affected landscapes (for example, recently burned areas with positive recovery trajectories).

This threat-based landscape conservation design is nascent and has some immediate steps that could be taken to enhance its strategic value for conserving the sagebrush biome. First and foremost, this work characterizes the types and location of threats and the rate of recent ecosystem loss on the landscape. To increase its utility, the design could be expanded to incorporate future threats, including invasive annual plants and grasses, wildfire, climate change and uncertainty, conifer expansion, anthropogenic disturbances, and their interactions. All these threats could be linked to spatially explicit threat modeling. Existing approaches for assessing ecological resistance and resilience (R&R; Chambers, Maestas, and others, 2017) across the sagebrush biome already represent geographic patterns and recognize the need to incorporate future shifts in R&R as a result of climate change (Bradford and others, 2019). Secondly, we did not explicitly integrate other societal or economic values when developing this design. Although in this version CSAs and GOAs are linked to focal species within this ecosystem, work could be done to quantify the relationship of CSAs and GOAs to ecosystem services beyond wildlife that are valued in the Western United States. Lastly, further work could explicitly link conservation efforts to where and how effectively efforts are reducing the rates of sagebrush ecosystem loss. Some threats in certain ecoregions, such as conifer expansion, have been reduced at local and regional levels, whereas other threats may require more frequent and (or) repeated intervention to have similar benefits. This "conservation report card" includes evaluating effectiveness at multiple scales and quantifying conservation benefit. Actions targeted to improve greater sage-grouse habitat are having benefits (Severson and others, 2017a, 2017c), but there is also opportunity to identify which areas within the CSAs and GOAs have the characteristics that will improve return on other conservation investments.

The extensive decrease in CSAs from 2001 to 2020 (fig. 5) highlights the potential benefit of timely, strategic landscape-scale restoration, coordinated effectively across agencies and partners, to reduce the degradation of the sagebrush biome. The notion that all CSAs could be degraded in less than 50 years based upon current rates of loss underscores the critical importance of a biome-wide conservation strategy. Concern about loss and degradation of the sagebrush biome is not new (Leopold, 1949; Baker and others, 1976; Knick and others, 2003; Wisdom and others, 2005; Miller and others, 2011), but we show that despite large increases in conservation actions within the sagebrush biome, especially during the past 6 years, an average of 1.3 million acres per year have transitioned to ORAs during the past two decades. This result translates into 26.8 million acres transitioning into ORAs at an annual rate of -0.89 percent in CSAs and -1.34 percent in CSAs and GOAs combined. The consequences of the loss in SEI through these transitions are significant and can be illustrated by the relative densities of greater sage-grouse populations. In 2019, CSAs contained 57.5 percent of greater sage-grouse on 13.6 percent of the landscape and GOAs contained 31.0 percent of greater sage-grouse on 34.4 percent

of the landscape, whereas ORAs contained only 9 percent of greater sage-grouse on 51.9 percent of the landscape. It is important to note, however, that our findings also show that roughly one-quarter of ORAs are either the result of a lack of sagebrush or of depleted perennial herbaceous understory that could become or return to a GOA or CSA with successful rehabilitation or natural recovery (Pilliod and others, 2021). We recognize that our models do not incorporate all threats to the sagebrush ecosystem, but we believe our results support the prioritization of conservation efforts towards addressing the largest threats driving ecosystem loss and degradation.

## Summary

Community-based conservation partners have demonstrated that it is possible to successfully scale up implementation to reduce threats across land ownerships in priority landscapes with local leadership and strategic investment (Reinhardt and others, 2020; NRCS, 2021a; Olsen and others, 2021). However, the models presented here indicate that more successful targeted restoration and management on 1.3 million acres per year would be needed to halt ecosystem degradation at a biome-wide scale should threats continue as they have in the past decades (fig. 5). Small incremental changes to the existing amount of conservation delivery and coordination will likely not abate the expected loss in sagebrush ecological integrity and consequently the loss of sagebrush obligates, such as greater sage-grouse (Coates and others, 2021). As climate-driven threats to sagebrush ecosystems continue to grow, stopping-much less, reversing-these declining trends could benefit from a paradigm shift in conducting conservation work, with increased resources directed toward an ecologically grounded planning design, that defends CSAs and grows GOAs sufficient to offset losses of about 1.3 million acres per year. Given the number of threats, the scale at which they operate, and the dispersed authority and responsibility to regulate and address threats, this effort may take an almost unprecedented degree of cooperation and collaboration, a bold vision, and ambitious goal setting. To date, substantial investments in collaborative efforts to remove conifers expanding into sagebrush plant communities by Oregon's SageCon partnership, the Sage-Grouse Initiative, and the Utah Watershed Restoration Initiative have matched the rate of loss to conifer expansion within the Great Basin (Reinhardt and others, 2020). The results in this study indicate that a similar focus could allocate limited conservation resources to where and when they have the highest probability of achieving desired uplift, which the design can inform.

In their 2003 paper, "Teetering on the Edge or Too Late?," Knick and others (2003) highlighted the need for aggressive management to stabilize the sagebrush ecosystem from fragmentation and degradation. Nearly two decades later, this study shows that their alarm is still relevant and even more urgent today. The design presented here can help leaders, land managers, and stakeholders of the sagebrush biome develop goals and quantifiable objectives associated with strategic management actions necessary to address primary landscape threats, and, importantly, monitor progress towards objectives through time. The 45.8 million acres of shared priorities among existing conservation frameworks highlighted in this study could help anchor and guide collaborative landscape-scale conservation in areas that still have no to low threats (fig. 6). This study broadly identifies how much (fig. 4 and table 6) and where conservation actions may be most beneficial (figs. 8 through 11), along with the rates of loss to be combatted annually to maintain current levels of CSAs and GOAs. Such information is critical to provide context for decisions about the amount and nature of conservation actions and funding requirements. The rates of losses and millions of acres identified in this report are daunting; however, there is clear precedence for successful conservation at this scale within North America (that is tens of millions of acres and billions of dollars). Just as State and Federal wildlife agencies from the United States and Canada responded to acute and chronic declines in waterfowl populations by coming together and developing the North American Waterfowl Management Plan (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Canadian Wildlife Service, 1986), it is possible for the conservation community to respond again for the sagebrush biome. Regardless of the final form of coordination leaders in the American West agree upon, a comparable collaborative effort and commitment to durable conservation could help prevent loss of the sagebrush biome.

## **References Cited**

- Allred, B.W., Bestelmeyer, B.T., Boyd, C.S., Brown, C., Davies, K.W., Duniway, M.C., Ellsworth, L.M., Erickson, T.A., Fuhlendorf, S.D., Griffiths, T.V., Jansen, V., Jones, M.O., Karl, J., Knight, A., Maestas, J.D., Maynard, J.J., McCord, S.E., Naugle, D.E., Starns, H.D., Twidwell, D., and Uden, D.R., 2021, Improving Landsat predictions of rangeland fractional cover with multitask learning and uncertainty: Methods in Ecology and Evolution, v. 12, no. 5, p. 841–849, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13564.
- Baker, M.F., Eng, R.L., Gashwiler, J., Schroeder, M.H., and Braun, C.E., 1976, Conservation Committee report on effects of alteration of sagebrush communities on the associated avifauna: The Wilson Bulletin, v. 88, no. 1, p. 165–171. [Also available at http://www.jstor.org/stable/4160730.]
- Balch, J.K., Bradley, B.A., D'Antonio, C.M., and Gómez-Dans, J., 2013, Introduced annual grass increases regional fire activity across the arid western USA (1980–2009): Global Change Biology, v. 19, no. 1, p. 173–183, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12046.

Barlow, K.M., Mortensen, D.A., Drohan, P.J., and Averill, K.M., 2017, Unconventional gas development facilitates plant invasions: Journal of Environmental Management, v. 202, no. 1, p. 208–216, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.07.005.

Baruch-Mordo, S., Evans, J.S., Severson, J.P., Naugle, D.E., Maestas, J.D., Kiesecker, J.M., Falkowski, M.J., Hagen, C.A., and Reese, K.P., 2013, Saving sage-grouse from the trees—A proactive solution to reducing a key threat to a candidate species: Biological Conservation, v. 167, p. 233–241, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biocon.2013.08.017.

Boryan, C., Yang, Z., Mueller, R., and Craig, M., 2011, Monitoring US agriculture—The U.S. Department of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service, Cropland Data Layer Program: Geocarto International, v. 26, no. 5, p. 341–358, accessed August, 26, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2011.562309.

Boyd, C.S., Johnson, D.D., Kerby, J.D., Svejcar, T.J., and Davies, K.W., 2014, Of grouse and golden eggs—Can ecosystems be managed within a species-based regulatory framework?: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 67, no. 4, July, p. 358–368, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.2111/REM-D-13-00096.1.

Boyte, S.P., Wylie, B.K., and Major, D.J., 2019, Validating a time series of annual grass percent cover in the sagebrush ecosystem: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 72, no. 2, p. 347–359, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rama.2018.09.004.

Bradford, J.B., Schlaepfer, D.R., Lauenroth, W.K., and Palmquist, K.A., 2020, Robust ecological drought projections for drylands in the 21st century: Global Change Biology, v. 26, no. 7, p. 3906–3919, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15075.

Bradford, J.B., Schlaepfer, D.R., Lauenroth, W.K., Palmquist, K.A., Chambers, J.C., Maestas, J.D., and Campbell, S.B., 2019, Climate-driven shifts in soil temperature and moisture regimes suggest opportunities to enhance assessments of dryland resilience and resistance: Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, v. 7, article 358, 16 p, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00358.

Bradley, B.A., 2009, Regional analysis of the impacts of climate change on cheatgrass invasion shows potential risk and opportunity: Global Change Biology, v. 15, no. 1, p. 196–208, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01709.x.

Bradley, B.A., Curtis, C.A., Fusco, E.J., Abatzoglou, J.T., Balch, J.K., Dadashi, S., and Tuanmu, M.N., 2018, Cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) distribution in the intermountain Western United States and its relationship to fire frequency, seasonality, and ignitions: Biological Invasions, v. 20, no. 6, p. 1493–1506, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10530-017-1641-8.

Bureau of Land Management, 2015, Notice of availability of the record of decision and approved resource management plan amendments for the Great Basin region greater sage-grouse sub-regions of Idaho and southwestern Montana; Nevada and northeastern California; Oregon; and Utah—Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management: Federal Register, v. 80, p. 57633–57635, accessed August 3, 2022, at ht tps://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2015/09/24/2015-24213/notice-of-availability-of-the-recordof-decision-and-approved-resource-management-planamendments.

Bureau of Land Management [BLM], 2019, BLM REA NGB 2011 BLM Grazing Allotments Brown: Bureau of Land Management dataset, accessed August 26, 2022, at https: //landscape.blm.gov/NGB\_2011\_metadata/ngb\_DV\_BLM\_ Grazing\_Allotments\_Brown\_Poly.xml.

Carlisle, J.D., Chalfoun, A.D., Smith, K.T., and Beck, J.L., 2018, Nontarget effects on songbirds from habitat manipulation for greater sage-grouse—Implications for the umbrella species concept: The Condor, v. 120, no. 2, p. 439–455, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1650/ CONDOR-17-200.1.

Chambers, J.C., Beck, J.L., Bradford, J.B., Bybee, J., Campbell, S., Carlson, J., Christiansen, T.J., Clause, K.J., Collins, G., Crist, M.R., Dinkins, J.B., Doherty, K.E., Edwards, F., Espinosa, S., Griffin, K.A., Griffin, P., Haas, J.R., Hanser, S.E., Havlina, D.W., Henke, K.F., Hennig, J.D., Joyce, L.A., Kilkenny, F.F., Kulpa, S.M., Kurth, L.L., Maestas, J.D., Manning, M., Mayer, K.E., Mealor, B.A., McCarthy, C., Pellant, M., Perea, M.A., Prentice, K.L., Pyke, D.A., Wiechman, L.A., and Wuenschel, A., 2017, Science framework for conservation and restoration of the sagebrush biome-Linking the Department of the Interior's integrated rangeland fire management strategy to long-term strategic conservation actions-Part 1, Science basis and applications: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-360, 213 p. [Also available at https://www.fs.usda.gov/rmrs/publications/science-framework-sagebrush-biome-1]

Chambers, J.C., Bradley, B.A., Brown, C.S., D'Antonio, C., Germino, M.J., Grace, J.B., Hardegree, S.P., Miller, R.F., and Pyke, D.A., 2014, Resilience to stress and disturbance, and resistance to Bromus tectorum L. invasion in cold desert shrublands of western North America: Ecosystems, v. 17, no. 2, p. 360–375, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10021-013-9725-5. Chambers, J.C., Maestas, J.D., Pyke, D.A., Boyd, C.S., Pellant, M., and Wuenschel, A., 2017, Using resilience and resistance concepts to manage persistent threats to sagebrush ecosystems and greater sage-grouse: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 70, no. 2, p. 149–164, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.08.005.

- Coates, P.S., Prochazka, B.G., O'Donnell, M.S., Aldridge, C.L., Edmunds, D.R., Monroe, A.P., Ricca, M.A., Wann, G.T., Hanser, S.E., Wiechman, L.A., and Chenaille, M.P., 2021, Range-wide greater sage-grouse hierarchical monitoring framework—Implications for defining population boundaries, trend estimation, and a targeted annual warning system: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2020–1154, 243 p., accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.3133/ ofr20201154.
- Coates, P.S., Prochazka, B.G., Ricca, M.A., Gustafson, K.B., Ziegler, P., and Casazza, M.L., 2017, Pinyon and juniper encroachment into sagebrush ecosystems impacts distribution and survival of greater sage-grouse: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 70, no. 1, p. 25–38, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.09.001.
- Coates, P.S., Ricca, M.A., Prochazka, B.G., Brooks, M.L., Doherty, K.E., Kroger, T., Blomberg, E.J., Hagen, C.A., and Casazza, M.L., 2016, Wildfire, climate, and invasive grass interactions negatively impact an indicator species by reshaping sagebrush ecosystems: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, v. 113, no. 45, p. 12745–12750, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1606898113.
- Connelly, A., Carter, J., Handley, J., and Hincks, S., 2018, Enhancing the practical utility of risk assessments in climate change adaptation: Sustainability, v. 10, no. 5, article 1399, 12 p, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.3390/ su10051399.
- Connelly, J.W., Rinkes, E.T., and Braun, C.E., 2011, Four characteristics of greater sage-grouse habitat—A landscape species at micro- and macroscales, chap. 4 *of* Knick, S.T., and Connelly, J.W., eds., Greater sage-grouse—Ecology and conservation of a landscape species and its habitats: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, p. 69–83, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1525/california/ 9780520267114.003.0005.
- Creutzburg, M.K., Olsen, A.C., Anthony, M.A., Maestas, J.D., Cupples, J.B., Vora, N.R., and Allred, B.W., 2022, A geographic strategy for cross-jurisdictional, proactive management of invasive annual grasses in Oregon: Rangelands, v. 44, no. 3, p. 173–180, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rala.2021.12.007.

- Crist, M.R., Belger, R., Davies, K.W., Davis, D.M., Meldrum, J.R., Shinneman, D.J., and Mayer, K.E., 2021, Altered fire regimes, chap. J *of* Remington, T.E., Deibert, P.A., Hanser, S.E., Davis, D.M., Robb, L.A., and Welty, J.L., eds., Sagebrush conservation strategy—Challenges to sagebrush conservation: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2020–1125, p. 79–98. [Also available at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/ofr20201125.]
- Crist, M.R., Chambers, J.C., Phillips, S.L., Prentice, K.L., and Wiechman, L.A., eds., 2019, Science framework for conservation and restoration of the sagebrush biome—Linking the Department of the Interior's Integrated Rangeland Fire Management Strategy to long-term strategic conservation actions—Part 2, Management applications: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-389, 237 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/ 10.2737/RMRS-GTR-389.]
- D'Antonio, C.M., and Vitousek, P.M., 1992, Biological invasions by exotic grasses, the grass/fire cycle, and global change: Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, v. 23, no. 1, p. 63–87, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.es.23.110192.000431.
- Davies, K.W., 2008, Medusahead dispersal and establishment in sagebrush steppe plant communities: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 61, no. 1, p. 110–115, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.2111/07-041R2.1.
- Davies, K.W., and Johnson, D.D., 2017, Established perennial vegetation provides high resistance to reinvasion by exotic annual grasses: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 70, no. 6, p. 748–754, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rama.2017.06.001.
- Davies, K.W., and Svejcar, T.J., 2008, Comparison of medusahead-invaded and noninvaded Wyoming big sagebrush steppe in southeastern Oregon: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 61, no. 6, p. 623–629, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.2111/08-005.1.
- Davies, K.W., Boyd, C.S., Beck, J.L., Bates, J.D., Svejcar, T.J., and Gregg, M.A., 2011, Saving the sagebrush sea—An ecosystem conservation plan for big sagebrush plant communities: Biological Conservation, v. 144, no. 11, p. 2573–2584, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biocon.2011.07.016.
- Davies, K.W., Leger, E.A., Boyd, C.S., and Hallett, L.M., 2021, Living with exotic annual grasses in the sagebrush ecosystem: Journal of Environmental Management, v. 288, article 112417, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112417.

Doherty, K.E., Boyd, C.S., Kerby, J.D., Sitz, A.L., Foster, L.J., Cahill, M.C., Johnson, D.D., and Sparklin, B.D., 2021, Threat-based state and transition models predict sage-grouse occurrence while promoting landscape conservation: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 45, no. 3, p. 473–487, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.1200.

Doherty, K.E., Evans, J.S., Coates, P.S., Juliusson, L.M., and Fedy, B.C., 2016, Importance of regional variation in conservation planning—A rangewide example of the greater sage-grouse: Ecosphere, v. 7, no. 10, article e01462, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1462.

Doherty, K.E., Ryba, A.J., Stemler, C.L., Niemuth, N.D., and Meeks, W.A., 2013, Conservation Planning in an era of change—State of the U.S. Prairie Pothole region: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 37, no. 3, p. 546–563, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.284.

Earnst, S.L., and Holmes, A.L., 2012, Bird-habitat relationships in interior Columbia Basin shrubsteppe: The Condor, v. 114, no. 1, February 1, p. 15–29, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2012.100176.

Elvidge, C.D., Baugh, K.E., Zhizhin, M., and Hsu, F.C., 2013, Why VIIRS data are superior to DMSP for mapping nighttime lights: Proceedings of the Asia-Pacific Advanced Network, v. 35, p. 62–69, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/271020677\_ Why\_VIIRS\_data\_are\_superior\_to\_DMSP\_for\_mapping\_ nighttime\_lights.

Gelbard, J.L., and Belnap, J., 2003, Roads as conduits for exotic plant invasions in a semiarid landscape: Conservation Biology, v. 17, no. 2, p. 420–432, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2003.01408.x.

Germino, M.J., Chambers, J.C., and Brown, C.S., eds., 2016, Exotic brome-grasses in arid and semiarid ecosystems of the Western US—Causes, consequences, and management implications: Switzerland, Springer International Publishing, 475 p, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-24930-8.

Goosey, H.B., Smith, J.T., O'Neill, K.M., and Naugle, D.E., 2019, Ground-dwelling arthropod community response to livestock grazing—Implications for avian conservation: Environmental Entomology, v. 48, no. 4, p. 856–866, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/nvz074.

Gorelick, N., Hancher, M., Dixon, M., Ilyushchenko, S., Thau, D., and Moore, R., 2017, Google Earth Engine—Planetaryscale geospatial analysis for everyone: Remote Sensing of Environment, v. 202, p. 18–27, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.06.031. Holling, C.S., and Meffe, G.K., 1996, Command and control and the pathology of natural resource management: Conservation Biology, v. 10, no. 2, p. 328–337, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1996.10020328.x.

Homer, C., Dewitz, J., Jin, S., Xian, G., Costello, C., Danielson, P., Gass, L., Funk, M., Wickham, J., Stehman, S., Auch, R., and Ritters, K., 2020, Conterminous United States land cover change patterns 2001–2016 from the 2016 National Land Cover Database: ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, v. 162, April, p. 184–199, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2020.02.019.

Homer, C.G., Xian, G., Aldridge, C.L., Meyer, D.K., Loveland, T.R., and O'Donnell, M.S., 2015, Forecasting sagebrush ecosystem components and greater sage-grouse habitat for 2050—Learning from past climate patterns and Landsat imagery to predict the future: Ecological Indicators, v. 55, p. 131–145, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.03.002.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC], 2021.
Climate change 2021—The physical science basis.
Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment
Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
[Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C.
Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis,
M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K.
Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou
(eds.)]: Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY,
USA, Cambridge University Press, accessed August 3, 2022,
at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/.

Jeffries, M.I., and Finn, S.P., 2019, The sagebrush biome range extent, as derived from classified Landsat imagery: U.S. Geological Survey data release, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.5066/P950H8HS.

Jin, S., Homer, C., Yang, L., Danielson, P., Dewitz, J., Li, C., Zhu, Z., Xian, G., and Howard, D., 2019, Overall methodology design for the United States National Land Cover Database 2016 products: Remote Sensing, v. 11, no. 24, article 2971, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.3390/rs11242971.

Johnson, D., Cahill, M., Boyd, C., Schroeder, V., Foster, L., Sitz, A., Kerby, J., Svejcar, T.J., and Cupples, J., 2019, Threatbased land management in the Northern Great Basin—A manager's guide: Corvallis, Ore., Oregon State University Press, 32 p, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://catalog.extens ion.oregonstate.edu/pnw722/html. Jones, M.O., Allred, B.W., Naugle, D.E., Maestas, J.D., Donnelly, P., Metz, L.J., Karl, J., Smith, R., Bestelmeyer, B., Boyd, C., Kerby, J.D., and McIver, J.D., 2018, Innovation in rangeland monitoring—Annual, 30 m, plant functional type percent cover maps for U.S. rangelands, 1984–2017: Ecosphere, v. 9, no. 9, article e02430, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2430.

Knick, S.T., 1999, Requiem for a sagebrush ecosystem?: Northwest Science, v. 73, p. 53–57.

Knick, S.T., and Rotenberry, J.T., 1995, Landscape characteristics of fragmented shrubsteppe habitats and breeding passerine birds: Conservation Biology, v. 9, no. 5, p. 1059–1071, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1995.9051041.x-i1.

Knick, S.T., Dobkin, D.S., Rotenberry, J.T., Schroeder, M.A., Vander Haegen, W.M., and van Riper, C., III, 2003, Teetering on the edge or too late? Conservation and research issues for avifauna of sagebrush habitats: The Condor, v. 105, no. 4, p. 611–634, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1093/condor/105.4.611.

Lark, T.J., Mueller, R.M., Johnson, D.M., and Gibbs, H.K., 2017, Measuring land-use and land- cover change using the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Cropland Data Layer—Cautions and recommendations: International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, v. 62, October, p. 224–235, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2017.06.007.

Leopold, A., 1949, A Sand County almanac—And sketches here and there: New York, N.Y., Oxford University Press, 204 p.

Longland, W.S., and Bateman, S.L., 2002, Viewpoint—The ecological value of shrub islands on disturbed sagebrush rangelands: Journal of Range Management, v. 55, no. 6, p. 571–575, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.2307/4004000.

Maestas, J., Jones, M., Pastick, N.J., Rigge, M.B., Wylie, B.K., Garner, L., Crist, M., Homer, C., Boyte, S., and Witacre, B., 2020, Annual herbaceous cover across rangelands of the sagebrush biome: U.S. Geological Survey data release, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.5066/ P9VL3LD5.

Maestas, J.D., Naugle, D.E., Chambers, J.C., Tack, J.D., Boyd, C.S., and Tague, J.M., 2021, Conifer expansion, chap. M of Remington, T.E., Deibert, P.A., Hanser, S.E., Davis, D.M., Robb, L.A., and Welty, J.L., eds., Sagebrush conservation strategy—Challenges to sagebrush conservation: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2020–1125, p. 139–152, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/ofr20201125. Maestas, J.D., Porter, M., Cahill, M., and Twidwell, D., 2022, Defend the core—Maintaining intact rangelands by reducing vulnerability to invasive annual grasses: Rangelands, v. 44, no. 3, p. 181–186, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rala.2021.12.008.

Manier, D.J., Aldridge, C., Anderson, P., Chong, G., Homer, C., O'Donnell, M., and Schell, S., 2011, Land use and habitat conditions across the southwestern Wyoming sagebrush steppe—Development impacts, management effectiveness and the distribution of invasive plants: Natural Resources and Environmental Issues, v. 17, no. 4, p. 17–27, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/nrei/ vol17/iss1/4/.

Maus, V., Giljum, S., Gutschlhofer, J., da Silva, D.M., Probst, M., Gass, S.L.B., Luckeneder, S., Lieber, M., and McCallum, I., 2020, A global-scale data set of mining areas: Scientific Data, v. 7, article 289, p. 1–13, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00624-w.

Microsoft Corp., 2019, US Building Footprints: Microsoft Corp. dataset, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://github.com/ Microsoft/USBuildingFootprints.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005, Millennium ecosystem assessment—Ecosystems and human well-being— Biodiversity synthesis: Washington, D.C., Island Press, 137 p. [Also available at https://www.wri.org/research/millenniumecosystem-assessment-ecosystems-and-human-well-being.]

Miller, R.F., and Rose, J.A., 1995, Historic expansion of Juniperus occidentalis (western juniper) in southeastern Oregon: The Great Basin Naturalist, v. 55, no. 1, p. 37–45, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://www.jstor.org/stable/ 41712862.

Miller, R.F., Chambers, J.C., Evers, L., Williams, C.J., Snyder, K.A., Roundy, B.A., and Pierson, F.B., 2019, The ecology, history, ecohydrology, and management of pinyon and juniper woodlands in the Great Basin and Northern Colorado Plateau of the Western United States: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-403, 284 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/ 10.2737/RMRS-GTR-403.]

Miller, R.F., Chambers, J.C., Pyke, D.A., Pierson, F.B., and Williams, C.J., 2013, A review of fire effects on vegetation and soils in the Great Basin region—Response and ecological site characteristics: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-308, 126 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2737/RMRS-GTR-308.]

Miller, R.F., Knick, S.T., Pyke, D.A., Meinke, C.W., Hanser, S.E., Wisdom, M.J., and Hild, A.L., 2011, Characteristics of sagebrush habitats and limitations to long-term conservation, chap. 10 of Knick, S.T., and Connelly, J.W., eds., Greater sage-grouse—Ecology and conservation of a landscape species and its habitats: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, p. 144–184.

Miller, R.F., Naugle, D.E., Maestas, J.D., Hagen, C.A., and Hall, G., 2017, Special issue—Targeted woodland removal to recover at-risk grouse and their sagebrush-steppe and prairie ecosystems: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 70, no. 1, p. 1–8, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rama.2016.10.004.

Miller, R.F., Svejcar, T.J., and Rose, J.A., 2000, Impacts of western juniper on plant community composition and structure: Journal of Range Management, v. 53, no. 6, p. 574–585, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.2307/4003150.

Miller, R.F., Tausch, R.J., McArthur, E.D., Johnson, D.D., and Sanderson, S.C., 2008, Age structure and expansion of piñon-juniper woodlands—A regional perspective in the Intermountain West: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Research Paper RMRS–RP–69, 15 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2737/RMRS-RP-69.]

Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity Project, 2021, MTBS data access—Fire level geospatial data [2017, July - last revised]: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service and U.S. Geological Survey MTBS dataset, accessed August 26, 2022, at http://mtbs.gov/direct-download.

Monroe, A.P., Drietz, V., McPherron, H., and Wightman, C.S., 2021, Land use and development, chap. P *of* Remington, T.E., Deibert, P.A., Hanser, S.E., Davis, D.M., Robb, L.A., and Welty, J.L., eds., Sagebrush conservation strategy— Challenges to sagebrush conservation: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2020–1125, p. 179–190, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20201125.

Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS], 2020, Tackling Idaho's cheatgrass challenge: Boise, Idaho, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservatiion Service, 16 p., accessed August 19, 2021, at https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/PA\_NRCSConsumption/ download/?cid=nrcseprd1560032&ext=pdf.

Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS], 2021a, A decade of science support in the sagebrush biome: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 32 p., accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.32747/2021.7488985. Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS], 2021b, A framework for conservation action in the sagebrush biome—Working Lands for Wildlife: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, accessed August 19, 2021, at https:/ /wlfw.rangelands.app.

Olsen, A.C., Severson, J.P., Maestas, J.D., Naugle, D.E., Smith, J.T., Tack, J.D., Yates, K.H., and Hagen, C.A., 2021, Reversing tree expansion in sagebrush steppe yields population-level benefit for imperiled grouse: Ecosphere, v. 12, no. 6, article e03551, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3551.

Omernik, J.M., and Griffith, G.E., 2014, Ecoregions of the conterminous United States—Evolution of a hierarchical spatial framework: Environmental Management, v. 54, no. 6, p. 1249–1266, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00267-014-0364-1.

Palmquist, K.A., Bradford, J.B., Martyn, T.E., Schlaepfer, D.R., and Lauenroth, W.K., 2018, STEPWAT2—An individualbased model for exploring the impact of climate and disturbance on dryland plant communities: Ecosphere, v. 9, no. 8, article e02394, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ecs2.2394.

Palmquist, K.A., Schlaepfer, D.R., Renne, R.R., Torbit, S.C., Doherty, K.E., Remington, T.E., Watson, G., Bradford, J.B., and Lauenroth, W.K., 2021, Divergent climate change effects on widespread dryland plant communities driven by climatic and ecohydrological gradients: Global Change Biology, v. 27, no. 20, p. 5169–5185, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15776.

Pierce, J.E., Larsen, R.T., Flinders, J.T., and Whiting, J.C., 2011, Fragmentation of sagebrush communities—Does an increase in habitat edge impact pygmy rabbits?: Animal Conservation, v. 14, no. 3, p. 314–321, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2010.00430.x.

Pilliod, D.S., Jeffries, M.A., Welty, J.L., and Arkle, R.S., 2021, Protecting restoration investments from the cheatgrassfire cycle in sagebrush steppe: Conservation Science and Practice, v. 3, no. 10, article e508, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.508.

Porensky, L.M., 2021, Embracing complexity and humility in rangeland science: Rangelands, v. 43, no. 4, p. 142–150, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.rala.2021.03.007.

Porensky, L.M., and Blumenthal, D.M., 2016, Historical wildfires do not promote cheatgrass invasion in a western Great Plains steppe: Biological Invasions, v. 18, no. 11, p. 3333–3349, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10530-016-1225-z. Porensky, L.M., McGee, R., and Pellatz, D.W., 2020, Longterm grazing removal increased invasion and reduced native plant abundance and diversity in a sagebrush grassland: Global Ecology and Conservation, v. 24, article e01267, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.gecco.2020.e01267.

R Core Team, 2021, R—A language and environment for statistical computing: Vienna, Austria, R Foundation for Statistical Computing software release, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://www.R-project.org/.

Reeves, M.C., Krebs, M., Leinwand, I., Theobald, D.M., and Mitchell, J.E., 2018, Rangelands on the edge—Quantifying the modification, fragmentation, and future residential development of U.S. rangelands: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-382, 31 p., accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.2737/RMRS-GTR-382.

Reinhardt, J.R., Filippelli, S., Falkowski, M., Allred, B., Maestas, J.D., Carlson, J.C., and Naugle, D.E., 2020, Quantifying pinyon-juniper reduction within North America's sagebrush ecosystem: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 73, no. 3, p. 420–432, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2020.01.002.

Remington, T.E., Tart, D.L., Manning, M.E., Welty, J.L., and Pilliod, D.S., 2021, Introduction to the sagebrush biome, chap. A *of* Remington, T.E., Deibert, P.A., Hanser, S.E., Davis, D.M., Robb, L.A., and Welty, J.L., eds., Sagebrush conservation strategy—Challenges to sagebrush conservation: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2020–1125, p. 3–9, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.3133/ ofr20201125.

Reynolds, J.F., Smith, D.M.S., Lambin, E.F., Turner, B.L., II, Mortimore, M., Batterbury, S.P.J., Downing, T.E., Dowlatabadi, H., Fernández, R.J., Herrick, J.E., Huber-Sannwald, E., Jiang, H., Leemans, R., Lynam, T., Maestre, F.T., Ayarza, M., and Walker, B., 2007, Global desertification—Building a science for dryland development: Science, v. 316, no. 5826, p. 847–851, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1131634.

Rigge, M., Homer, C., Shi, H., Meyer, D., Bunde, B., Granneman, B., Postma, K., Danielson, P., Case, A., and Xian, G., 2021, Rangeland fractional components across the Western United States from 1985 to 2018: Remote Sensing, v. 13, no. 4, article 813, 24 p, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13040813.

Rigge, M., Shi, H., and Postma, K., 2021, Projected change in rangeland fractional component cover across the sagebrush biome under climate change through 2085: Ecosphere, v. 12, no. 6, article e03538, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3538.

Romesburg, H.C., 1981, Wildlife science—Gaining reliable knowledge: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 45, no. 2, p. 293–313, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.2307/3807913. Romme, W.H., Allen, C.D., Bailey, J.D., Baker, W.L.,
Bestelmeyer, B.T., Brown, P.M., Eisenhart, K.S., Floyd,
M.L., Huffman, D.W., Jacobs, B.F., Miller, R.F., Muldavin,
E.H., Swetnam, T.W., Tausch, R.J., and Weisberg, P.J., 2009,
Historical and modern disturbance regimes, stand structures,
and landscape dynamics in piñon-juniper vegetation of the
Western United States: Rangeland Ecology and Management,
v. 62, no. 3, p. 203–222, accessed August 3, 2022, at
https://doi.org/10.2111/08-188R1.1.

Roundy, B.A., Miller, R.F., Tausch, R.J., Young, K., Hulet, A., Rau, B., Jessop, B., Chambers, J.C., and Eggett, D., 2014, Understory cover responses to piñon-juniper treatments across tree dominance gradients in the Great Basin: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 67, no. 5, p. 482–494, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.2111/REM-D-13-00018.1.

Salafsky, N., Salzer, D., Stattersfield, A.J., Hilton-Taylor, C., Neugarten, R., Butchart, S.H.M., Collen, B., Cox, N., Master, L.L., O'Connor, S., and Wilkie, D., 2008, A standard lexicon for biodiversity conservation—Unified classifications of threats and actions: Conservation Biology, v. 22, no. 4, p. 897–911, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00937.x.

Schlaepfer, D.R., and Murphy, R., 2018, rSOILWAT2—An ecohydrological ecosystem-scalewater balance simulation model. R package version 2.3.2.

Schlaepfer, D.R., Lauenroth, W.K., and Bradford, J.B., 2012, Ecohydrological niche of sagebrush ecosystems: Ecohydrology, v. 5, no. 4, p. 453–466, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.238.

Schroeder, M.A., Aldridge, C.L., Apa, A.D., Bohne, J.R., Braun, C.E., Bunnell, S.D., Connelly, J.W., Deibert, P.A., Gardner, S.C., Hilliard, M.A., Kobriger, G.D., McAdam, S.M., McCarthy, C.W., McCarthy, J.J., Mitchell, D.L., Rickerson, E.V., and Stiver, S.J., 2004, Distribution of sage-grouse in North America: The Condor, v. 106, no. 2, p. 363–376, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1093/condor/106.2.363.

Severson, J.P., Hagen, C.A., Maestas, J.D., Naugle, D.E., Forbes, J.T., and Reese, K.P., 2017a, Better living through conifer removal—A demographic analysis of sage-grouse vital rates: PLoS One, v. 12, no. 3, article e0174347, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0174347.

Severson, J.P., Hagen, C.A., Maestas, J.D., Naugle, D.E., Forbes, J.T., and Reese, K.P., 2017b, Effects of conifer expansion on greater sage-grouse nesting habitat selection: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 81, no. 1, p. 86–95, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/ jwmg.21183.

Severson, J.P., Hagen, C.A., Maestas, J.D., Naugle, D.E., Forbes, J.T., and Reese, K.P., 2017c, Short-term response of sage-grouse nesting to conifer removal in the Northern Great Basin: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 70, no. 1, p. 50–58, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.rama.2016.07.011.

Smith, I.T., Rachlow, J.L., Svancara, L.K., McMahon, L.A., and Knetter, S.J., 2019, Habitat specialists as conservation umbrellas—Do areas managed for greater sage-grouse also protect pygmy rabbits?: Ecosphere, v. 10, no. 8, article e02827, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1002/ ecs2.2827.

Smith, J.T., Allred, B.W., Boyd, C.S., Davies, K.W., Jones, M.O., Kleinhesselink, A.R., Maestas, J.D., Morford, S.L., and Naugle, D.E., 2022, The elevational ascent and spread of exotic annual grass dominance in the Great Basin, USA: Diversity & Distributions, v. 28, no. 1, p. 83–96, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13440.

Symstad, A.J., Buhl, D.A., and Swanson, D.J., 2021, Fire controls annual bromes in northern great plains grasslands— Up to a point: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 75, p. 17–28, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.rama.2020.11.003.

Theobald, D.M., Kennedy, C., Chen, B., Oakleaf, J., Baruch-Mordo, S., and Kiesecker, J., 2020, Earth transformed— Detailed mapping of global human modification from 1990 to 2017: Earth System Science Data, v. 12, no. 3, p. 1953–1972, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-12-1953-2020.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2020, National Inventory of Dams: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers dataset, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://nid.sec.usace.army.mil/.

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service [USFS], 2020a, FSTopo database [S\_USA.FSTopo\_Culture\_LN]: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service database, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://data.fs.usda.gov/geodata/edw/datasets.php.

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service [USFS], 2020b, Range Management Unit dataset [S\_USA. Allotment]: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service dataset, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://data.fs.usda.gov/geodata/edw/datasets.php.

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service [USFS], 2020c, Timber Harvests dataset [S\_USA.Activity\_ TimberHarvest]: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service database, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://data.fs.usda.gov/geodata/edw/datasets.php.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS], 2010, 12-month findings for petitions to list the greater sage-grouse (*Centrocercus urophasianus*) as threatened or endangered: Federal Register, v. 75, p. 13910–14014, accessed August 3, 2022, at www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2010-03-23/pdf/2010-5132.pdf. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS], 2022a, North American Wetlands Conservation Act: U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service North American Wetlands Conservation Act website, accessed January 26, 2022, at https://www.fws.gov/birds/ grants/north-american-wetland-conservation-act.php.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS], 2022b, USFWS sagebrush conservation design report: Lakewood, Colo., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Migratory Bird Joint Ventures 2022 website, accessed January 26, 2022, at https://www.fws.gov/birds/management/bird-conservationpartnership-and-initiatives/migratory-bird-joint-ventures.php.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Canadian Wildlife Service, 1986, North American waterfowl management plan: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

U.S. Geological Survey Gap Analysis Project, 2016, GAP/LANDFIRE National Terrestrial Ecosystems 2011: U.S. Geological Survey data release, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.5066/F7ZS2TM0.

Walker, B., Holling, C.S., Carpenter, S.R., and Kinzig, A., 2004, Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems: Ecology and Society, v. 9, no. 2, 5 p, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-00650-090205.

Western Governors' Association [WGA], 2020, A toolkit for invasive annual grass management in the West: Denver, Colo., Western Governors' Association, 7 p. [Also available at https://westgov.org/images/editor/FINAL\_Cheatgrass\_ Toolkit July 2020.pdf.]

Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, 2020, National Atmospheric Deposition Program [NADP]: Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://nadp.slh.wisc.edu/.

Wisdom, M.J., Rowland, M.M., and Tausch, R.J., 2005, Effective management strategies for sage-grouse and sagebrush—A question of triage?: Transactions North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference, v. 70, p. 206–227.

World Resources Institute, 2019, Global Power Plant Database: Global Energy Observatory, Google, KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm, Enipedia, and World Resources Institute through Resource Watch, accessed August 29, 2022, at https://resourcewatch.org.

Zhou, Q., Tollerud, H., Barber, C., Smith, K., and Zelenak, D., 2020, Training data selection for annual land cover classification for the Land Change Monitoring, Assessment, and Projection (LCMAP) initiative: Remote Sensing, v. 12, no. 4, article 699, accessed August 26, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.3390/rs12040699.

Ziegenhagen, L.L., and Miller, R.F., 2009, Postfire recovery of two shrubs in the interiors of large burns in the intermountain West USA: Western North American Naturalist, v. 69, no. 2, p. 195–205, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.3398/064.069.0208.

## Appendix 1. Supporting Information

The supporting information in this appendix is provided to help readers further understand this research. In addition, a companion data release (Doherty and others, 2022) is being published in conjunction with this report.

## **Biome-Wide Levels of Threat**

Figure 1.1 shows the percent cover of three classes of threats (invasive annual grass cover, human modification, and conifer woodlands encroachment) discussed in this report that decreased the sagebrush ecological integrity across the sagebrush biome of the United States for 2020.

## Evaluation of Sensitivity to Cover-to-Quality Estimates (*Q*)

To understand the sensitivity of the sagebrush ecological integrity (SEI) model results to uncertainties associated with the expert-based estimates that convert percent cover of sagebrush, perennial grass, annual grass, and trees (conifers), and the degree of human modification to an estimate of "quality" (ranging from 0.0 to 1.0), the team ran a series of Monte Carlo simulations (n=30). For each realization n, the estimates that translated percent cover to quality (Q) were randomly adjusted, and the resulting variability of Q (fig. 2 and 3 in the main body of the report) across the realizations was examined. Specifically, for each factor individually, the estimates were randomized by raising the best estimate (used as the reported model results) to the power of a random value, where the random value is drawn from a normal distribution bounded by  $\pm 1$  standard deviation values ranging 0.5 to 1.5, resulting in Q values ranging from 0 to 1.0. This provides a variety of simulated new curves that represent a range of potential errors in describing the ecological relationships between percent cover and the resulting patch-scale sagebrush ecological integrity. The simulated Q values were then substituted for the best-estimate Q values in equation 1 (in the main body of the report) to create a new representation of sagebrush ecological integrity for each realization.

To understand how the randomized Q values might affect the stability of the conservation designations (core sagebrush area [CSA], growth opportunity area [GOA], and other rangeland area [ORA]) that are based on classification of the Q values (figs 2 and 3), we calculated the three discrete classes for each realization of the Monte Carlo simulations. Within each Monte Carlo realization, the original logic class designation by way of  $SEI_{2000}$  values derived through the advisory group was used. That is, the SEI values were first maxnormalized using the 99th percentile value and a minimum value of 0.002. The normalized values were then binned using equal-interval class breaks of 0.1, so that bins ranged from 1 to 10 and values greater than or equal to 9 represented the top  $\sim$ 10 percent of possible raw values. Within each Monte Carlo simulation, the top 20 percent of scores were then grouped as CSAs; the next 50 percent highest scores, as GOAs; and the lowest 30 percent of scores, as ORAs. To calculate the variability of the CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs, a count was made for each pixel of the number of times the realized class equaled the class from our original analysis, divided by the number of realizations *n*.

#### Results

For the 30 randomized sensitivity runs, the results were consistent with the original estimate for 95.1 percent, 94.2 percent, and 97.7 percent of CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs, respectively.

#### Discussion

The results support our interpretation that our "bestestimate" or original results discussed in the main body of the report are, at a biome-wide extent, insensitive to the estimated relationships specified in the SEI model. This relative insensitivity is likely due largely to the inclusion of multiple factors and variables, and especially to the smoothing of the continuous  $Q_{2000}$  values and classifying them into three broad classes (CSAs, GOAs, and ORAs). Slightly higher sensitivity (reducing to two-thirds concurrence) does occur in localized settings, particularly at the edges between cores sagebrush areas and growth opportunity areas. Potential future efforts could focus on reducing the uncertainty of the estimates through additional quantitative-based elicitation from experts, and (or) fitting estimates on the basis of species-specific empirical results.

# **Reference Cited**

Doherty, K., Theobald, D.M., Holdrege, M.C., Wiechman, L.A., and Bradford, J.B., 2022, Biome-wide sagebrush core habitat and growth areas estimated from a threat-based conservation design: U.S. Geological Survey data release, accessed August 3, 2022, at https://doi.org/ 10.5066/P94Y5CDV.



**Figure 1.1.** Percent cover of three selected threats that decreased the sagebrush ecological integrity across the sagebrush biome of the United States in 2020. The three threats examined are *A*, invasive annual grass cover; *B*, human modification; and *C*, tree cover (conifer encroachment).

Manuscript approved on September 7, 2022

For more information, contact Sagebrush Ecosystem Specialist Land Management Research Program Ecosystems Mission Area U.S. Geological Survey 2150 Centre Ave., Bldg. C Fort Collins, CO 80526

https://www.usgs.gov/mission-areas/ecosystems/land-management-research-program

Publishing support provided by the Reston Publishing Service Center

**≥USGS** 

ISSN 2331-1258 (online) https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20221081